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IntroductionIntroduction

Richter Park is a place for the residents of Danbury to enjoy recreation and culture 

through the venues of golf, art, performing arts, hiking and tennis. It is a destination 

where a Danbury resident can play a national caliber golf course, enjoy critically 

acclaimed musicals, view the work of local artists, dine at a gourmet restaurant, explore 

the verdant hills that surround pristine lakes and ponds. It is a peaceful place, a place to 

relax, a place to be with friends and neighbors. It is a place that Danbury can be proud 

of.

But Richter has challenges. Competition from more recently built golf courses, financial 

pressures, and inconsistent management have brought stresses to the park. Therefore, 

the City of Danbury and the Richter Park Authority decided to develop a master plan for 

the park. It was divided into two parts: this plan, which is an overall master plan and a 

physical improvement plan of the the golf course designed by Mark Mungeam (see 

appendix). This part of the Richter Park  master plan is meant to provide a road map to 

recapture and expand the dream of Richter Park.

The Goal of the Richter Park Master Plan.

According to Webster's, a master plan is a plan that gives overall guidance. The City of 

Danbury and the Richter Park Authority understand that the Richter Park Master Plan 

will provide the road map to the future Richter Park. This master plan:

• Sets the course for the long term vision of Richter in contrast to a strategic plan 

which establishes 3-5 year goals.

• Enables Richter Park to best serve existing and emerging needs of the City of 

Danbury residents.

• Clarifies Richter Park’s mission as a recreational/arts facility.

• Addresses the short term physical, economic, administrative and 

communication needs of the current Richter Park.

• Addresses the long term physical, economic, administrative and 

communication needs of the future Richter Park.

• Establishes the role of Richter Park within the overall Danbury landscape.

• Identifies connecting land acquisitions that will enhance the future role of the 

park.
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IntroductionIntroduction

The Dream of Richter Park

Richter Park is the result of the convergence of the dreams of two divergent groups:

• 1930’s – Stanley L. Richter and his family establish a tradition of nurturing 

Danbury’s visual and performing arts community on their property located in 

northwest Danbury

• 1940’s – Ridgewood caddies dream of a golf course for Danbury’s working class

• 1950’s – Golf league is formed and is forced to play on out of town courses

• 1968 – The dream is realized as the Richter Family donates their property for the 

establishment of a recreation center for the City of Danbury. The Richter Park 

Authority is established to manage the park

• 1971 – The Stanley L. Richter Association for the Arts is established, preserving 

a legacy

• 1972 – The Edward Ryder designed golf course opens

• 1972 – Harold P. and Isabelle T. Farrington gift of land for hiking trails

• 1985 - Musicals at Richter debuts as a summer theater destination

• 1988 – 20 Years of Richter Park - Clubhouse and maintenance facility open, golf 

course improvements and non-golf recreation enhance park

• 1990s- Richter Park reaches the height of its popularity

• 2008 – 40 Years of Richter Park – top municipal golf course, longest running 

outdoor theater in state, established and respected arts program, new management 

and clear view of the future
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IntroductionIntroduction

The Opportunities at Richter Park

Richter Park is a beautiful place with a vibrant golf and art community. Richter Park Golf 

Course is well respected in the golf community as a top municipal course, well worth 

the effort to play.  The Richter Arts Association and Musicals at Richter are two 

organizations that have been providing well respected and critically acclaimed programs 

for over thirty years. This is what has made Richter Park one of the jewels of Danbury.

The foundation of this master plan is based on the following opportunities:

• Well respected, national caliber public golf course

• An active golf community

• Experienced golf professional 

• Well respected arts association

• Critically acclaimed musicals organization

• Beautiful and challenging hiking trail system

• Beautiful grounds with dramatic water features

• Extensive open space surrounding Park

• Well respected restaurant

• Revitalized authority

• New and visionary management
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IntroductionIntroduction

The Challenges at Richter Park

At the start of this master plan process, Richter Park had many challenges that needed to 

be addressed in order to continue to be the high quality recreation and cultural venue for 

the City of Danbury. This master plan  provides strategies to address these following 

challenges:

• Aging infrastructure and facilities

• Aging golf course that has some issues competing with newer courses

• Limitations of the site and location

• Water and utility issues

• Financial issues

• Administration issues

• Negative perception regarding customer service and cost

• Relationship of arts organizations with Richter Park Authority

• The  City of Danbury focus on Citycenter and the Ives Center for the Performing 

Arts as the main venues for visual and performing arts 

• Limited public access with no mass transportation
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IntroductionIntroduction

The market position of Richter Park

Richter Park is a local recreation destination with national (and some international) 

recognition for its golf course. The recreation is for the most part active and structured 

in the form of golf, tennis, or cultural events such as musical performances and art 

shows. The passive recreation consists of walking and hiking either on the golf course 

or the marked trails. 

The Trends

• Outdoor recreation is trending towards more structured family activities and

Richter is in the position to provide these types of activities

• Golf’s demographic is changing from a white male user to a family user that 

includes women and young golfers. Richter can position itself as the family golf 

venue providing a more friendly environment for women and more golf activities 

targeting young golfers

• Green building and green golf are becoming mainstream building practices and 

Richter can position its transformation to include these practices

• The Arts demographic is changing from a traditional viewpoint to a multimedia

viewpoint and Richter can position itself to include this generation of artists 

through the thoughtful renovation/expansion of the Richter House

• Economic stresses of the credit crunch and fuel costs have created an 

opportunity for local destinations to capitalize on recreation dollars that would 

have gone into long distance travel. Richter can position itself to provide day to 

weekend experiences for the local traveler

• Protection of watersheds and greenway creation are currently fundable public 

projects and Richter’s location provides it with opportunities to capitalize on 

these funds

• New state historic preservation funding has opened the Richter House up to 

realistic funding for study and renovation of the Richter House
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IntroductionIntroduction

The Richter Park users

• Reports for golf are limited to resident/nonresident breakdown of 65-75% 

resident to 25-35% nonresident since 1999 with totals ranging from 35,000 to 

45,000 rounds per year

• Tennis is a minor active recreation activity in the park

• There is no information on hiking or walking but anecdotal information indicates 

that walking is a very important activity at the park

• The Richter Arts Association does not have accurate reports but indicates that 

many of their programs draw 50-100 people

• The Musicals at Richter indicates that they have 300-500 person audience per 

performance

• The Richter Park website states that the park has 70,000 visitors per year

The demographics of the City of Danbury

• Danbury consists of approximately 75-80,000 residents (projected to be 81,500 

by 2012)

• Population is 1,870/square mile (the state average is 709/square mile)

• 51% female/49% male

• 68% white, 15.8% Hispanic, 6.8% African American, 12.4% other with 27% 

foreign born (the average foreign born for the state is 10.9%)

• Median age is 37 (the state median age is 39)

• Median household income is $65,161 in 2007 (the state median income is 

$65,859)

• 29% have high school diploma, 21% have some college, 27% have bachelor 

degree

• 42% of Danbury business is in the service industry

• The top five employers 

• City of Danbury schools

• Danbury Hospital

• CARTUS

• GE Commercial Finance

• Pitney Bowes
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The demographics of golf (as per the 2007 National Golf  Foundation report “ US Golf Industry Overview”)

Industry indicators

• Golf Participation

Core golfers defined as those playing eight or more rounds per year are 

down 11% from the year 2000

Rounds played are down 3%

Increase in occasional golfers defined as those playing less than eight 

rounds per year but these golfers only account for one in 10 of all rounds 

played

Connecticut household participation in golf is at 17.2-20.7% range with the 

national average being 18.5%

Male users are down 0.7% for core golfers but up 10.5% for occasional

Female users are down 9.0% for core golfers and 1.8% for occasional

Junior golfers are also down by as much as 13.2%

Range Users are up 20.4%

• Rounds Played

After September 11, 2001, rounds decreased by 4.5% 

Rounds have improved but are still 3% below 2000 levels

Rounds have increased in private courses over 2005 by 1%

Rounds have increased in public courses over 2005 by 0.7%

Rounds have increased in Northeast over 2005 by 1%

• Golf Course Development

Trend is zero growth as closures outpace openings of new golf courses

Real Estate facilities dominate golf course openings

2006 openings

56% daily fee

36% private

8% municipal

The peak of the openings was 2000 at 398 and has steadily declined to 119 

in 2006

No openings occurred in Connecticut in 2006

Closures are trending upward with 32 in 2001 to 146 in 2006

No closures occurred in Connecticut in 2006

Net growth of golf courses in 2006 was – 26.5

There are 283 18 hole golf courses under construction nationwide
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IntroductionIntroduction

Future market for golf

• Retention of existing golfers will need more consideration:

Time constraints affect ability to golf

Less time to devote to game

Family obligations

Cost influences decision to golf

Economic stresses

Equipment

Access when they are available

• Women Golfer

1/3 latent demand for the sport is women

Spend more per round on lessons, food and apparel

Judge the course on performance and customer service

Time constraints

Consider golf a social activity

Interested in lessons and practice facilities 

Positive reinforcement 

Non-embarrassing techniques

Emphasize methods that work with the female physique

Treated with respect by staff and fellow golfers

Amenities in the locker room and bathroom facilities

A Pro Shop that enhances the female shopping experience

Organized and accessible displays 

Private changing areas

Equipment targeted to their game

Number one reason for leaving the game is the entry barriers 

• Young Golfer

Prefer more fast paced sports

Tiger Woods and younger professionals have increased interest

First Tee program has increased interest

Economic and time constraints adversely affect drawing in the young 

golfer
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Richter Park’s Golf Competition

• The public daily fee courses because they provide low cost golf with amenities

Centennial, Carmel, New York

Fees: $135

Individual season passes

Corporate season passes

Practice facility

65 tees both grass and artificial: $8-$10/bucket

bunkered target greens

three putting greens

two separate chipping and bunker areas

Designed by Larry Nelson

Banquet and Meeting Rooms up to 200 people

Outings, meetings, seminars

Partners with several Danbury Hotels

Oxford Greens, Oxford, Connecticut

Fees: $95

Membership program

Corporate memberships

Practice Facility

a full driving range with grass and mat surfaces 

15,000 square foot putting green

Dining  room and lounge area 

Designed by Mark Mungeam 

Great River Golf Club, Milford, Connecticut

Fees: $130 including use of practice facility

Membership Programs

Small Business and Corporate membership

Practice Facility

Banquet and Corporate meetings with wireless service

Known for Customer Service

Designed by Tommy Fazio
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• Other municipal golf courses because they  provide more amenities than Richter 

Park:

Tashua Knolls, Trumbull, Connecticut

Additional 9 holes

Two putting greens

Full practice range including bunker

Banquet facilities for over 300 people

Fees: resident $26/nonresident $45

H Smith Richardson Golf Course, Fairfield, Connecticut

Practice range

Banquet facilities for outings only

Fees: resident $25/nonresident $50

Ridgefield Golf Course, Ridgefield, Connecticut

Practice Range

Fees:  resident $25/ nonresident $50

Putnam National Golf Club, Mahopac, New York

Practice Range

Fees: resident/ nonresident without pass $65
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IntroductionIntroduction

Trends in Art (as per Rand, a nonprofit institution that helps improve policy and decision making through research and analysis)

• Changing pattern of consumer demand

Increased competition for audiences due to rising incomes and greater 
variety of leisure time activities available to the public

Less free time and fragmented

Leisure activities are becoming more home-centered 

Increased participation in the arts in an on-demand format

• Market for artists is volatile 

Independent contractors rather than employees

Both amateurs and part-time artists play an increasing role in supplying art 
to the American public

• Challenging funding environment

Public funding is now more state and local which is driven by local 
economic development rather than art for arts sake

Private contributions are increasing in numbers but the average gift has 
decreased

Restricted and targeted contributions from private foundations which 
decreases the flexibility of the arts organizations

Many nonprofits are employing the marketing and merchandising 
techniques prevalent in the commercial market

• Organizational complexity

Intermediaries intervene between the art and the audience

The commercial sector has merged into larger production companies that 
maximize their earnings on tested themes and stars

Nonprofit arts subject to funding sources that dictate art for social or 
economic benefit

Art is now being divided into large organizations (commercial and 
nonprofit) and small art organizations catering to a niche market

• Technology in Art

Internet

Distribution can cater to a diverse audience with a direct link to 
artist

Accessible to mass audiences and reduced the demand for live 
performance

Experienced interactively rather than viewed as an object and therefore the 
audience is a user rather than a viewer

Media Arts provide a window to the future of art in America
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IntroductionIntroduction

Danbury’s cultural climate

• The Housatonic region has several arts venues that complement the events and 

programs of Richter Park:

Danbury Music Centre provides local musicians of varying levels of 

accomplishment the opportunity to perform and bring the joy of music to 

themselves and to members of their community

Danbury Museum and Historical Society mission is to acquire, preserve, 

exhibit and interpret the heritage of Danbury

The Charles Ives Center for the Arts produces the highest quality music 

and other arts-related programming at the Ives Concert Park, a unique 

outdoor amphitheatre situated on a beautiful parcel of preserved, state 

owned land which includes 40 wooded acres, a pond, breathtaking gardens 

and public hiking trails

Western Connecticut State University has several programs for visual and 

performing arts and is planning a performing arts center for its westside 

campus

Ridgefield Playhouse produces programs of movies and events: 

internationally acclaimed musicians, comedy, a wonderful collection of 

children's performers, and community partners including The Ridgefield 

Symphony, The Ridgefield Opera Company, and the Aldrich Museum

The Aldrich Museum of Contemporary Art is a national leader in the 

exhibition of significant and challenging contemporary art with an 

emphasis on emerging and mid-career artists, a world-class innovator of 

museum education programs, and a vital cultural resource for our

community

Wooster Community Art Program is a community outreach organization of 

Wooster School committed to providing quality art instruction and cultural 

awareness

• Groups that support the Arts in Danbury

The Housatonic Valley Cultural Alliance is a regional network that 

enhances the connection, collaboration, and conversation within the arts 

and cultural community as well as among business and other interest 

groups

Danbury Cultural Commission is a nonprofit cultural organization, 

chartered December, 1967 by the City of Danbury to "encourage, 

participate in, promote and develop acceptance and appreciation of artistic 

and cultural activities"
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IntroductionIntroduction

Green Trends

Current trend in facilities and marketing is to “Go Green”

People are actively seeking out destinations and activities that are environmentally 
friendly

Can differentiate the park from competition, improve public relations and marketing 
opportunities

Less required maintenance/Reduced maintenance cost

Decreased use of fertilizers & pesticides/Reduced cost

Reduced water requirements and irrigation/ Reduced installation and maintenance costs

Attract more wildlife/Increased user enjoyment and desire to use facilities

Enhances the park’s natural beauty

Surveys show that playing quality is maintained or improved as a result of managing a 
course in harmony with the environment

Best practices for chemical management reduce exposure and liability risks and decreased 
insurance costs

Provides alternative opportunities for funding

Green Golf

• Allow more areas to go ‘natural’

• Create more buffer areas

• Proper management of irrigation schedules and systems

• Best Management practices for chemicals

• Best Management practices for Stormwater Management

• Create more wildlife habitat

• Examples of Green Golf Courses

Bulls Bridge Golf Club, Kent, CT

Red Tail Golf Club, Devens, MA

Town of North Hempstead Harbor Links, North Hempstead, NY

Turning Stone Casino Resort Golf Courses, Verona, NY

Cateechee Golf Club, Hartwell, GA

Hoover Country Club, Birmingham, AL

Pinehurst Resorts (8 Courses), Pinehurst, NC
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IntroductionIntroduction

Green Architecture

• Green or sustainable buildings use less energy and resources than conventional 
buildings i.e.: reduced operating and maintenance costs

• LEED Certified (lowest level) = 30%  increased energy efficiency and 30% water 
efficiency (typical).

• Platinum Level (Highest) = 55% increased energy efficiency and 34% water 
efficiency (typical).

• Green buildings have lower emissions and environmental costs

• Mechanical systems more automated so reduced operator costs

• Additional savings are realized through increased productivity and employee health

• Reduced stormwater management facilities and costs through use of ‘green roof’

• Typical construction cost for a green building only 2-4% more to build than a 
conventionally built facility

• Financial benefits of building green, over 20 year life cycle, are typically $50-
$75/sf which is at least 10x the building cost premium 

• Payback period for building cost premium is typically 2-5 years                                                        

LEED is a third-party certification program and the nationally 

accepted benchmark for the design, construction and operation of

high performance green buildings. LEED gives building owners 

and operators the tools they need to have an immediate and 

measurable impact on their buildings’ performance. LEED 

promotes a whole-building approach to sustainability by 

recognizing performance in five key areas of human and 

environmental health: sustainable site development, water 

savings, energy efficiency, materials selection and indoor 

environmental quality.  USGBC.org
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Community Input

One Master Plan Committee workshop and two community workshops were performed in 

January and February 2007.  The workshops were divided into two parts: data collection 

and group discussion.  The results of all the workshops revealed the following common 

theme:

Richter Park is for the residents of Danbury with a beautiful golf course and small, 

critically acclaimed arts facility.

The following actions developed through group discussion were consistent throughout all the 

workshops:

Physical

• Renovate and upgrade the golf course

• Add a driving range

• Upgrade the clubhouse and include drop off area

• Upgrade the Richter House

Economic

• Explore alternative funding sources including fundraising and grants

• Establish a strategic capital improvement plan

• Study job descriptions and salaries to create an efficient staff

Administration

• Establish a mission with a strong business plan

• Hire a strong professional manager

Communication

• Build the Richter brand

• Hire a professional public relations/ marketing professional

• Reach out to the community to draw the public into Richter’s vision

• Create a team brand that includes Golf, Arts and Musicals
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What Has Already Been Accomplished Through the Master Plan Process

The master plan process is as important as the final product. The process starts to uncover the 

opportunities and challenges of place, refocuses energies of the stake holders, 

introduces new people to the facility, opens up discussions that usually lead to action. It 

is not uncommon for actions to be taken before the process is complete. This is the case 

with the Richter Park Master Plan and to date the following actions have been 

accomplished:

Contracted professional managers

• General manager

• Grounds superintendent

• Golf professional

Revitalized the Richter Park Authority with new members and chairman

Completed the Golf Course master plan with Mark Mungeam 

Re-marked the hiking trails

Restructured fees for rounds of golf

Improved financial reporting and procedures

Approved a realistic budget

Improved customer service

Implemented an online reservation and lottery system

Implemented better cash handling procedures

Improved the golf course

• Renovated Bunkers

• Drainage

• Cart Paths

Started the process of studying the Richter House

• Contacted historic preservation groups

• Had structural, mechanical, environmental studies done on house

Placed adjoining property on the list for acquisition

Improved relationships between Richter Arts Association, Musicals at Richter and the 

Richter Park Authority

A committee has been formed to establish the nonprofit organization FORe
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IntroductionIntroduction

The Mission of Richter

Richter Park is a recreation and arts destination for Danbury residents that 

includes a nationally recognized golf course, a network of hiking trails,  

small tennis facilities, dining facilities and an intimate but critically 

acclaimed visual and performing arts facility. 
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The Vision of Richter

Provide sustainable, challenging golf for the benefit of the City of Danbury residents

Provide a sustainable venue for the performing and visual arts in an intimate facility 

that is an important and viable piece of the Danbury cultural fabric

Provide a hub for the network of hiking trails called the Richter Trail that connects 

the west side open spaces, encourages passive outdoor recreation for families and 

provides environmental education opportunities

Provide a small but vibrant tennis facility

Provide upgraded facilities and services that meet the expectations of a new 

generation of golfers and park visitors

Become an important and active member of  Danbury’s quality of life initiative by

providing a destination that bundles outdoor recreation with dining and cultural 

activities

Become an important and active member of Danbury’s economic development 

strategic plan by being a part of the Danbury identity

Welcome and nurture families to use the park as they are an important component to 

the future of the Park

Welcome and nurture nonresident users as they are an important component to the 

economic health of the Park

Enhance the natural beauty of the area while enhancing the health of the residents of 

Danbury

Protect the health of its natural systems by incorporating golf’s environmental game 

guidelines, green building practices, efficient and alternative energy sources, storm 

water best-management practices and riparian buffers
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IntroductionIntroduction

The Four Elements of a Successful Master Plan

• Physical – The physical makeup of the park including:

Buildings

Parking

Driveways

Gathering areas

Circulation

Planting

Utilities

Site Amenities

Relationship with surrounding properties

• Economic – The economic impact of the plan

How to pay for the improvements

How to maintain the improvements

The economic benefit of the improvements 

• Administration – The management of the plan

How to manage the construction of the improvements

How to manage the evolving park

How to manage the economic opportunities

• Communication – The promotion of the plan

How to communicate the plan to the public and the city

How to communicate and promote the park 

How to obtain funding
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The Physical PlanThe Physical Plan

Objectives of the Physical Plan

The physical presence of the park is important to the vitality of the park. This section will 

deal with the physical components the master plan and how the physical layout and 

condition of the park reflects the mission and vision of Richter Park. This physical plan 

has limitations in that it addresses only the facilities that support the golf, arts and 

recreation. The golf course master plan was designed by Cornish Mungeam and is in the 

appendix of this master plan.

This plan addresses the physical layout of the park at two different levels:

• The renovation and/or maintenance of existing structures or facilities

• The construction of new facilities

This plan addresses the supporting elements

• Parking and vehicular circulation

• Pedestrian and cart circulation at non golf course areas

• Recreational elements

Hiking

Tennis

• Signage

• Landscaping, lighting and amenities

• Outdoor gathering areas

• Traffic calming

This plan addresses areas for environmental enhancement

• Green Building

• Wetland renovation and/or enhancement

• Wetland mitigation

• Stormwater Management

• Golf’s environmental game as outlined by the USGA

This plan addresses connections to other open space

• To Route 6 and the Reserve

• To Western Connecticut State University

Page 29



StanleyStanley LaskerLasker Richter Memorial Park Master PlanRichter Memorial Park Master Plan

The Physical PlanThe Physical Plan

Insert location map

Page 30



StanleyStanley LaskerLasker Richter Memorial Park Master PlanRichter Memorial Park Master Plan

The Physical PlanThe Physical Plan

Location

Richter Park is located in the northwest region of Connecticut in Danbury, the Gateway to 

New England, on Aunt Hack Road.

Danbury has many strategic transportation opportunities 

• Located at the intersection of I684 and I84

• Located near two major train hubs

Danbury Metro North

Brewster Metro North

• Major bus terminal is  located in downtown Danbury

• Six major airports are located within one hour travel distance to Danbury

Bradley International Airport

Stewart International Airport

Westchester Airport

Laguardia Airport

Newark Airport

Kennedy International Airport

• Helicopter and small plane access from Danbury Airport

But, Richter Park has limited access

• Not located on bus route

• Only accessible by automobile

• Accessible only by traveling a narrow, winding road through residential 

neighborhoods

• Not within walking distance of the downtown

• Unsafe pedestrian access surrounds the park

The park  is adjacent to privately owned open space that extends to Route 6

The park is adjacent to West Lake Reservoir that extends to Western Connecticut State 

University

The park is bounded by water, open space and residential properties

The park is close to the New York border 
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Existing Conditions

Beautiful but aging golf course

Incredible distant and on-course views 

• Holes 14 and 12 have remarkable views

• Hiking Trails have panoramic overlooks of New York State and Danbury

• Greens at Hole 18 and Hole 16 have beautiful views of the hills surrounding the 

course

• Hole 11 has nice view of water feature

• Restaurant has nice views of Hole 18 and practice facility

Aging facilities

• Richter House in disrepair

Structural issues

Environmental issues

Water issues

Code issues

• Clubhouse is no longer meeting needs of staff

• Maintenance facility no longer meets the needs of the course

• Carriage house in disrepair

Aging infrastructure

• Septic issues

• Water issues

• Insufficient parking

Aging tennis courts

Pristine hiking trails with some conflicts with golf course

Beautiful water features but with issues

• West Lake Reservoir water level is inconsistent

• Boggs Pond has minor water quality issues

• Other water features have water quality issues

Traffic safety issues due to Aunt Hack Road bisecting the park

Expansion issues

• Limited space for practice facility

• Limited space for parking

• Topographic impediments to expansion beyond the property 
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Insert existing conditions plan
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The Highlights of the Physical Plan

Maintenance Facility relocated to area behind existing carriage house

10th hole relocated – see Cornish Mungeam’s plan

Develop Practice Facility behind clubhouse – see Cornish Mungeam’s plan

Clubhouse renovated and expanded with drop-off and cart storage

Richter House renovated and expanded into an arts facility with community room and 

adjacent parking

New recreation facility developed by Hole 10 with snack bar, trail head and 

information, and tennis support

Improved pedestrian circulation 

Improved parking and vehicular circulation

Improved streetscape with traffic calming measures

Wetland mitigation and stormwater management

Expanded trails and connections

List of Master Plans

Overall Plan incorporating Mungeam’s plan

Overall Facilities Plan

Detailed Facilities Plan

Trails and Connections Plan

Stormwater Management and Wetland Mitigation Plan

Traffic Calming Plan
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Insert overall plan
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Maintenance Area

Two new structures

• Maintenance Facility

Offices

Meeting Rooms

Garage

• Storage Facility

Equipment

Supplies

Chemicals

• Architectural Style- New England Barn 

Existing Cottage

• Renovate if practical for use by interns

Existing Garage

• Renovate if practical for additional equipment storage

Parking and circulation

• Parking for staff  and interns

• Overflow parking for Richter House utilizing grass pavers 

• Driveway to accommodate deliveries utilizing overflow parking for turning radii 

and backup space

• Cart Path connects to golf course and clubhouse

• Maintain crossing at 16th green to the front 9

Landscaping and Amenities

• New entry statement

Stone walls

Streetscape landscaping

Dark sky lights

• Screening from course

Protect and save existing trees as practical

Enhance buffer utilizing evergreens and native plantings

Budget $700,000 - 1 million
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Richter House

Renovate or reconstruct Richter House into an arts facility

• Gallery space

• Expanded salon for gatherings

• New kitchen facilities to be used by caterers to heat and serve food

• Studio spaces

• Classrooms

• Dressing rooms

• Offices

• Storage

• Patio for outdoor events

• Wired for multimedia events

Add a Community Room 

• Architecture to be in keeping with Richter House – New England Farm style

• Designed to accommodate 150 people

• Connected to house in order to share kitchen and bathroom facilities

• Basement for practice facilities, rehearsal hall and storage

• Patio for outdoor cocktail parties and events

• Rain Garden to treat increased roof and patio runoff

New Driveway Entrance and drop off

• New entrance with stone walls, landscaping and view of the Richter House

• Roundabout drop off 

• Six handicap parking spaces

• Enhanced Garden entrance

• Pathways to Richter House and Community Room 

• Connections to stage area and clubhouse

• Rain Gardens to treat increased runoff in this area

Parking – total 83 plus 6 handicap

• 30 spaces utilizing porous pavers

• Entrance to stage area

• Connections to Richter House and Community Room

• Overflow parking utilizing grass pavers for additional 38 spaces

• Nighttime use of maintenance parking for additional 15 spaces

• Dark sky lights

Budget $1 million  - 2.5 million
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Insert clubhouse plan

Page 44



StanleyStanley LaskerLasker Richter Memorial Park Master PlanRichter Memorial Park Master Plan

The Physical PlanThe Physical Plan

Clubhouse

Expand Clubhouse 

• New offices and Conference Room

• Improved bathroom and locker room facility

• Expand pro shop to include more display area and changing rooms

• Course check in area with dedicated entrance to starting area

• Meeting and congregating area with information regarding the course, park and 

Danbury area

• Reconfigured restaurant and kitchen

• Expanded terrace with increased facilities overlooking 18th hole

• Expanded Cart Storage

• Practice Facility check in area

New Entrance

• Reconfigured driveway with drop off area for golfers and restaurant patrons

• New entrance patio out of porous paving 

• New cart path connecting to Richter House and to the new 10th Tee

Parking

• Improved circulation and expanded parking area Configured as per the current 

zoning regulations for the City of Danbury

• Cart path to connect to the 10th tee 

• New delivery area 

Practice Facility (see Cornish Mungeam plans)

• Pergola cover at tees to mitigate views from clubhouse

Landscaping

• Gardens to enhance the clubhouse and new terraces utilizing native and drought 

tolerant ornamental plants

• Streetscape including stone walls, plantings and dark sky  lighting

• New Signage

• Rain Gardens to treat the expanded impervious surface of the clubhouse and 

patios

Starter’s area

• Expanded Cart storage area

• Dedicated Starter’s area with crosswalk

• New landscape area with signage

Welcome to Richter

Directional sign

Budget $1 – 1.5 Million
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Tennis and Recreation Facility

Recreation Facility

• Snack bar 

• Trailhead with maps and other information regarding Richter Trail

• Tennis support facility

• Bathrooms

Relocated 10th tee (see Cornish Mungeam plans)

New cart paths connecting to clubhouse 

Parking

• Porous paving

• 18 spaces

• Dark sky lighting

Landscaping

• New meadows 

• Rain Gardens to treat increased runoff

• Entrance with stonewall, landscaping and lighting

Hiking Trails 

• Connection trails for Richter Trail

• Connection into smaller trail at pond

Accessible trail 

Wetland mitigation area

Bird watching area

Budget (not including Hole 10)  $250,000
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Wetland Mitigation – Back 9

The expansion of the facilities, the relocation of Hole 10 and the installation of the practice 

facility will have an impact on the existing wetlands. Therefore, mitigation will be 

required in order to receive permits for the work. The following are recommended areas 

for wetland mitigation utilizing riparian buffers, wetland enhancement and renovation, 

wetland creation and stormwater management practices. (See appendix)

Wetland Area 1 – this area is adjacent to Boggs Pond at Hole 12

• Riparian buffer to protect and enhance Boggs Pond

Wetland Area 2 – this area is the pond at Hole 11 and the adjacent wetlands

• Riparian Buffer to protect water hazard at Hole 11

• Wetland enhancement and renovation of stream from pond at Hole 11 to drainage 

structure at Aunt Hack Road

Wetland Area 3 – this area is the existing pond adjacent to Hole 10 and surrounding 

wetlands

• Riparian buffer around existing pond

• Wetland renovation of pond 

• Wetland enhancement of adjacent wetlands

• Rain Garden to treat stormwater from parking

Wetland Area 4 – this area is the existing pond and stream adjacent to Hole 14 and 

surrounding wetlands

• Expanded pond on Hole 14 – see Cornish Mungeam Plan

• Riparian buffer to protect stream and pond

• Wetland renovation and enhancement between Hole 14 and 15

• Riparian Buffer of stream/bog at Hole 15

Wetland Area 5 – this area is wetlands between Hole 16, 17, and 18

• Renovate pond between Hole 15 and 18

• Enhance and renovate wetlands

Wetland Area 6 – this area is the  wetlands between Hole 16 and the property line

• Expand small pond into water hazard – see Cornish Mungeam Plan

• Riparian buffer at pond and stream

• Enhance and renovate existing wetlands
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Wetland and Mitigation   Front 9

Wetland Area 7 – this area is the wetland and impoundment adjacent to Holes 1 and 5

• Buffer existing stream and impoundment area

• Transform impoundment into a created wetland that can treat the drainage before 

it enters West Lake Reservoir

Wetland Area 8 – this area is upland shoreline of West lake adjacent to Hole 2

• Riparian buffer 

Wetland Area 9 – this area is the shoreline of West Lake adjacent to Hole 5 and 6

• Riparian buffer

Wetland Area 10 – this area is the drainage channel that bisects Hole 6

• Wetland enhancement and creation

• Riparian buffer

Wetland Area 11- this area is the water hazard, adjacent wetland and shoreline at Hole 8

• Riparian Buffer

• Wetland enhancement and renovation

Wetland Area 12 – this area is the wetland and shoreline adjacent to hole 3

• Riparian Buffer

• Wetland renovation and enhancement
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Traffic Calming

One of the challenges of Richter Park is Aunt Hack Road. It bisects the Park into the front 9 

and back 9.  Golf carts and golfers cross the road on a regular basis. The road, although 

adjacent to residential neighborhoods, is a popular commuter cut through.  The cars can 

travel at high rates of speed at the straight-away section in front of the clubhouse. This 

has created an unsafe situation for the park users.

Install a proposed center island to create a boulevard

• A traffic calming technique

• Two twelve foot wide lanes

• A resting area for golfers and pedestrians when crossing the road

• An defining area for the park

Streetscape identifies the park

• Stone walls

• Landscaping

• Dark sky lighting

• Signage

Crosswalk

• Could be raised in order to slow vehicles down

• Could use contrasting pavement or striping to identify

• Signage
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Insert surrounding area proposed plan
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Connections to surrounding area

Richter Park could be a hub to another Danbury greenway called the Richter Trail. The 

greenway could connect from Richter Park through privately owned open space to 

Route 6 and then the Reserve or through City of Danbury property adjacent to the West 

Lake Reservoir and Western Connecticut State University. 

Acquire important open space properties adjacent to the existing trails on the Farrington 

Property

Acquire conservation easements 

Plan a trail 

Create a task force for this trail system

Install signs at Richter Park outlining the new trail system

Install new trails in Richter Park to create safe connections to the new trail systems

Work with the Reserve to create a connection across Route 6 and I 84

Study connections from the Reserve into Ridgefield

Study connections from the Western Connecticut State University campus to the 

Kenosia Wetlands Area
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Detail Recommendations

Rain Garden and Riparian Buffer examples utilizing native species

Dark Sky Light

Porous Paving

Bench made from recycled 

plastic

Bridge exampleOrnamental landscape with 

decorative paths
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Utility Recommendations

Water Supply – to address the threatened water supply 

• Options

Relocate pump house in order to access a deeper water source

Dam area of cove to keep water levels up near existing pump house

Access water from Boggs Pond

Drill wells

• Recommendations

Continue to water course utilizing in place water conservation 

measures

Prepare a water use study of the park

Harvest stormwater from impervious surfaces to use for irrigation and 

cart cleaning

Utilize drought tolerant plant material 

Septic Issue – to address the limitations of the septic system for the growth of 

Richter Park

• Options

Repair and expand existing septic system

Extend sewer lines down Aunt Hack Road

• Recommendations

Test alternative areas of the park for expanded septic

Utilize new technologies to reduce waste water quantities

Low flush toilets

Water saving faucets

Gray water technology

Composting toilets

Employ water conservation measures throughout park

Prepare a feasibility study for sewer extension
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Short Term Objectives

Form a construction management committee

Develop a new maintenance facility 

Realign existing parking and expand temporary parking into old maintenance facility 

area

Keep existing maintenance facility for temporary uses

Richter  House

• Two temporary solutions for the Richter House

Shore up house for short-term habitation

Install one compliant bathroom

Temporary repair of roof

Shore up structural issues

Remove asbestos, black mold and other environmental hazards

Remove kitchen facilities and install temporary butler pantry

Continue to keep second floor closed

Close house and “mothball” for study

Provide alternative locations for Arts Association

Provide temporary trailer for Musicals

Provide temporary tent and bathroom facilities

• Hire Consultants to perform a feasibility study 

Structural, mechanical, environmental studies

Historical assessment

Prudent and feasible architectural alternatives for renovation or 

reconstruction

• Apply to state for funding for study and construction

• Fundraise for matching part of grant

Reconfigure office in clubhouse and freshen exterior

Work with city to develop hiking trails

Develop an ongoing program for wetland mitigation and riparian buffer installation

Repair existing tennis courts and remove basketball hoops

Hire engineer(s) to study water issues and septic issues and present solutions to the city 

for approval and implementation
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Mid Term Objectives

Develop the Richter House into an arts/community facility in three phases

• Arts component in the original footprint

• Community Room

• Stage and Performing Arts facility

Install measures as recommended by engineer(s) for water and septic issues

Remove old maintenance facility and relocate hole 10

Install practice facility

Reconfigure trail head

Reconfigure parking and circulation

Hire an architect to study clubhouse

Continue wetland mitigation and riparian buffer installation

Continue developing Richter Trail

Long Term Objectives

Renovate clubhouse with new drop off and cart storage

Design and build recreation facility at new Hole 10

Reconfigure Aunt Hack Road for traffic calming measures

Install new streetscape

Install new tennis courts

Finish the Richter Trail

Prepare for 50th anniversary celebration
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Objectives of the Economic Plan

The economic vitality of the park is important to sustaining the park for future generations. 

This section of the master plan will establish an economic model for the park that 

provides funds not only for the immediate needs of the park but for the long term 

sustainability of the park. This section also discusses the economic benefits  Richter 

Park brings to the City of Danbury. The objectives of this section are:

Provide capital for the monthly expenses of the park

Provide capital  for the short-term improvements of the park

Provide capital  for the long-term capital improvements of the park

Invest for Richter’s future

Establish the value of Richter Park to the City of Danbury
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Category 2005 2006 2007

Revenues

Green fees/cart rental $1,313,000 $1,388,935 $1,491,186

Season Passes $119,000 $111,076 $175,466

Tournaments & Outings $199,000 $269,355 $276,572

Facility rental $62,000 $65,458 $70,096

Operating Revenues $1,693,000 $1,834,824 $2,013,320

Gross Receipts $1,834,824 $2,035,820

Expenses

Salaries, wage, benefits $947,000 $880,956 $1,026,611

Facilities Ops & 

Improvements $467,000 $513,468 $435,032

Depreciation $219,000 $209,386 $227,312

Admin & General $159,000 $168,288 $168,925

Utilities $77,000 $95,026 $92,768

Total Expenses $1,869,000 $1,787,067 $2,030,704

Net Income -$176,000 $47,757 $5,116

Interest & Misc Income $2,000 $7,733 $34,174

Net Change -$174,000 $55,490 $39,290

Net Assets - beginning $3,193,000 $2,966,958 $3,022,448

Net Assets - ending $3,019,000 $3,022,448 $3,061,738

Three year Summary

Please Note:  Quantities provided by Richter Park staff for use in Master Plan document only.  
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Current Economic Conditions.

The park depends on rounds of golf as the economic engine which creates a tenuous 

economic situation if golf trends down and/or there are adverse weather conditions. 

Other recreational activities, such as hiking and tennis do not contribute to the financial 

support of the park.

The park is governed by an independent authority and has had no direct financial help 

from city. 

There is no strategic plan with the city as to the role that Richter Park will play within 

its economic development initiative.

The arts are incapable in their current configuration of generating a profit, therefore 

they can not contribute to the financial support of the park. They pay a token fee for use 

of the Richter House which does not cover the expenses of the building.

The Richter Park charter outlines specific financial goals that include the goal that any 

profits that exceed the operating expenses and capital improvements of the park by 25% 

must be turned over to the city’s general fund.  This requirement has never been met.

Due to inadequate management, the recent history of minimal economic reporting and 

analysis had adversely affected the economic planning for the park.

Richter Park does not have a strategic economic plan which has left the park vulnerable 

as its facilities and golf course age and trends change.

There has been  minimal investment in the park, although this has improved in the last 

year.  The result of that policy is that major investments are needed in the golf course 

and facilities in order to keep the park competitive with other golf courses. 

• The Richter House requires major renovations

• The Maintenance facility is in disrepair and does not meet the needs of the golf 

course

• The Golf Course requires major updating in order to remain competitive

• The Park lacks a practice facility which it needs in order to remain competitive

• The Clubhouse lacks the amenities that it needs in order to remain competitive

• There is no meeting facility on the park grounds which limits its opportunities

• The solutions for water and septic are costly 

The park has a history of limited debt.
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Economic Opportunities

There are many new developments, some of which the master plan process has been 

responsible for, which provide Richter Park better opportunities for economic growth.

In the past year, the Richter Park Authority has been revitalized. New authority 

members with diverse experience bring a new perspective to the management of the 

park. New leadership in the Authority has supported the master plan process.

In the Spring of 2007, the Richter Park Authority hired a new General Manager, who 

has transformed the methods of running the park and improved the financial reporting. 

Before the master plan process started, the Richter Park Authority hired an experienced 

and visionary Grounds Superintendent who is restoring the park to one of the top 

municipal courses in the country. 

The park has extended the contract of the experienced, well respected and connected 

Golf professional.

The results of these changes have improved the financial situation for 2007 and allowed 

for some investment back into the park:

• Cart Paths

• Bunker Improvement

• Temporary improvements at Richter House

• Studies of Richter House

• Golf Course Master Plan

The improved financial reporting has resulted in a realistic budget for 2008.

With new direction and guidelines, the staff has been able to improve the most 

important aspect of the park, customer satisfaction.

With direction from the master plan process, recommendations to the city resulted in 

adjoining parcels to be considered in the Open Space bond package.

The strategic position of Danbury provides a unique opportunity for Richter to be a 

destination golf course in New England. There are opportunities for partnering with 

local hotels to create stay/play programs. With the current economic climate, local 

destinations are predicted to flourish and Danbury along with Richter Park could 

capitalize on this trend. 
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Economic Challenges

The relationship between the City and the Richter Park Authority has been limited. This 

has limited the access to services that could help the park. 

In order to meet the regulations for bonding any new construction, the new or renovated 

facility must meet use requirements under state statute.

There is no 501c3 organization for the Park. This limits opportunities for fundraising 

and grants.

The arts/musicals relationship has been strained which impedes their success in 

becoming economic partners with the park. 

The arts/musicals/RPA relationship has also been strained, which impeded the 

economic success of the park. 

The current condition of the facilities and course are a huge economic burden to the 

park.

The lack of historical demographic and financial data provides for limitations in 

planning.

The lack of an economic strategic plan has limited the parks resources. For example, if 

in 1988 the RPA decided to invest $100,000 per year (10% of the gross earnings), the 

result, depending on the method of investing, would be enough money to pay for all the 

recommendations of this and the golf course master plan. 

Weather is a huge economic challenge because it directly affects the census of rounds of 

golf. Since the economic health of the park depends on rounds of golf, a year of bad 

weather could directly affect the sustainability of the park.

The resident/nonresident balance has not been addressed until recently. The balance is 

needed in order to create the best golf experience for the resident while sustaining the 

economic health of the park. The question that needs to be answered is how to achieve 

that balance without adversely affecting the original mission of the park, which was to 

provide affordable, accessible golf to the Danbury resident. 
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Current Fee Structure for Rounds of Golf

Fee structure is most challenging economic issue

• It must be in keeping with the original vision of affordable, accessible golf for 

residents of Danbury

• But, it should cover the costs to run the golf course

Resident fee is below the anecdotal breakeven rate

Dependence on nonresident fees for profit

Should resident access be limited or should resident fees be increased during prime 

times to increase profit

Or should alternative funding devices be developed

Nonresident 40%Break-EvenResident  60%

Seniors

$55-$95 w/cart

Seniors

$27-32  w/o cart

$85-$95  w/ cart
$50/round

$32 w/o cart
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Strategic Economic Plan

A new approach to budgeting should include investment in the park. The yearly expenses and 
improvements should be approximately 80% of the gross while 20% is saved or 
used as seed money for alternative sources of income to fund improvements.  This 
model is a goal that should be implemented slowly and re-evaluated often.

•Yearly

Expenses

•Yearly Capital 

Improvements

•Mid Term 

Capital

Improvements

•Long Term 

Capital

Improvements

•Rainy Day 

Fund

GOLF
and arts

Alternative

sources of 

funding:

Fundraising

Bonding

Grants

Endowment

80%

20%
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The Strategic Plan

Create a three year strategic plan that includes golf as the current economic engine

• Use current demographic and economic data

• Review yearly to adjust and extend the vision using this master plan and the golf 

course master plan as a guide

• Adopt a plan for phased implementation of the Strategic Economic Plan using the 

80/20% split of the gross revenue as an overall goal.  Establish and monitor a 

plan for benchmarks and accountability in reaching that goal as the course 

becomes increasingly profitable. Establish consistent reporting in order to 

evaluate progress.

• Adjust the plan to include alternative sources of funding so that golf is only one 

part of a total economic plan

Golf is the current economic engine

• Discuss the number of rounds required to meet the economic sustainability of the 

park

Improve pace of play to maximize rounds

Adjust timing of tournaments and outings to maximize rounds

• Discuss the fee structure required 

Do an end-of-year analysis of the impact of the fee structure on the 

economic sustainability of the park

Communicate how the fee structure will be adjusted to meet the economic 

needs of the park

Review the 3 year plan yearly to adjust and extend that vision

The Richter Park Authority must communicate, in clear economic terms, to 

the city the reason for the fees

However, the final decision for the fee structure will rest solely with the 

Richter Park Authority

• Nonresident role

The profit is in the nonresident round of golf

Maintain the 40% balance as a minimum

Review the demographics every year and adjust projected balance
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• Alternative Economic Sources

Outings

Tournaments

Golf carts

Practice facility

Season passes

Corporate passes

Education

Friends of Richter (FORe)

• Create a 501c3 Organization that can assist the Authority in developing 
alternative sources of funding

• Its economic role will be to 

Fundraise

Facilitate Endowments

Facilitate Grants

Volunteer in-kind services

• Its members should include

Economic leaders of the community

Fundraising leaders of the community

Construction Management Committee of RPA

• Its economic role will be to 

Work with the authority to create the construction part of the strategic plan

Create alliance with construction community

Assist in developing construction plans

Facilitate donated materials and services

This role may sunset once the capital improvements have been 
accomplished or

The role may change into assisting in managing the facilities

• Its members should include

Construction and trades leaders of the community
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The Arts as Economic Partners

• The  arts will transform from tenants into partial economic partners with golf 

within five years

The arts in their current configuration cannot provide economic support 

therefore training and planning with the Authority will provide a road map 

to that transformation

Due to the original vision for the park and the importance of cultural 

venues to the economic health of the city, the arts will need to be 

subsidized with the goal of making them minor partners in the economic 

support of the park

• The arts budgets should include investment in the facilities.

• The various arts organizations associated with the park will be required to have 

501c3 status

Fundraising

Assist in grants

Endowments for the arts

Education 

Sponsorships

• The Arts will develop partnerships with the cultural community in Danbury, 

Housatonic region and state in order to receive training, promote programs and 

network for funding

• The Arts will be required under the strategic plan to reach out to the community 

for expanded programming for the Richter House 

• The Arts will be required to provide a strategic economic plan to be included in 

the overall Richter Park Strategic Economic Plan
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Hiking and Tennis Economic Role

• Vision supports their role in park

• Tennis can be expanded to include

Tennis club that supports the upkeep of the courts in exchange for 

allocated times

Sponsorship of the courts

Lessons 

Merchandise

• Fundraising, grants, sponsorship through FORe

• Citywide hiking/greenway task force that supports the Richter trails

Volunteer in-kind services

Grants

Hiking Club with dues that partially support the trails and trail amenities

• Hikers and Tennis players will spend money at the park if recreation facility is 

available
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Fundraising

Utilize USGA fundraising guidelines to develop a strategic fundraising plan

Develop strategic fundraising events that will provide funds for short term and long 

term improvement projects

• Art Auction for the Richter House

• Golf Tournament for the facility

• Breakfast at Richter

• Raffle or silent auction – Golf with a pro, equipment, tee times, dinner at Richter, 

etc

Create sponsorship opportunities

• Donate a light, bench, brick, tree

• Sponsor a tee

• Sponsor a tournament

• Sponsors for Web Site and Newsletters

• Sponsors for Art Events

Create a membership program at Richter 

• Member lunches or dinners 

• Newsletter

• Merchandise discounts

• Preferred seating at Arts events

• Listing in all programs and newsletters

Develop and sell Richter merchandise in the new Richter Park Gift Shop

• T Shirts

• Coffee Mugs

• Water Bottles

• Trail Mix

• Books

• Calendars

• Framed Prints
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Endowments

Use Master Plan to attract endowments from area residents who have used and enjoyed 

Richter and would like to see that it has a future in the City of Danbury

Focus on golf, arts, recreation and the environment

Use the Economic Strategic Plan and the new Administration model to ensure the 

benefactor that the money will be used according to his/her wishes

Set up administration model to assure donors of proper management

Set up accounts and management system with board of directors through FORe

Grants

Use Master Plan as a tool to apply for  grants

Types (see appendix for detailed information)

• USGA

• Green Building

• Wetland Mitigation

• Trails

• Arts

• Education

Hire a grant writer

Apply for grants through FORe or the Arts organizations if grant requires a 501c3 

designation

Work with city to apply for grants that require a municipal designation

Many grants require several applications before they will notice the organization, 

therefore persevere
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Bonding

Developing a strong strategic economic plan will assist in obtaining bonding

Work with city to develop bonding strategy

Bond projects that would not have an opportunity for grant funding and reduce debt 

service not only through golf but through other economic tools

Budget

Includes income from all sources

Identifies and funds yearly expenses

Identifies and funds immediate capital improvements

Identifies and funds economic needs for three to five years

Identifies and invests for future economic needs
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The Economic Benefit of Richter Park

Richter Park provides the City of Danbury with the distinction of a nationally 

recognized municipal golf course that has many reviewers recommending playing the 

course if visiting Connecticut.

Richter Park provides a small intimate arts facility that if properly managed can attract a 

niche market of cultural tourists. The park could be a part of a larger Danbury cultural 

strategic plan. 

Richter Park could provide a tourism destination with opportunities for the visitor to 

play golf, dine at a gourmet restaurant, see a play or visit an art exhibition, hike the 

trails and stay at a local hotel. These packages could enhance Richter’s economic 

standing and also that of the City of Danbury.

Richter Park provides another quality of life venue in the city which is a top reason for 

companies to move to a community. The combination of Richter Park, the Richter Trail 

and the other greenway and cultural venues in the city will continue to make it a 

desirable place to live, work and play.

Richter Park is an asset that can increase the value of the City of Danbury and therefore 

improve its bond rating. 
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Objectives of the Administration Plan

A consistent administration model will provide the necessary foundation for the 

implementation of the master plan. This model clarifies the roles of the City of 

Danbury, the Richter Park Authority, the arts organizations and the staff. It also expands 

support with the recommendation of a new organization that will assist the Richter Park 

Authority in funding the master plan. The administration plan will:

Clarify the roles of the City of Danbury, the Richter Park Authority, the management, 

the staff and the volunteers

Provide a benchmarking and an accountability model

Provide a protocol to efficiently manage the park

Provide an understanding of the city’s role in the park

Provide a method to elevate the arts into partners

Provide a 501c3 organization that will support the park
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Existing Administration Model
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Existing Conditions

Limited accountability of city to Richter Park

• City does not provide Richter with a vision of Richter’s role in the economic and 

quality life initiatives 

• City  should ensure that the Richter Park Authority is overseeing the park 

correctly

Unclear accountability of Richter Park Authority to the city

• Richter Park Authority has not been reporting a complete status of the park to the 

city including not only the audited financial reports but also status of all the 

facilities and plans

• Richter Park Authority has only recently embraced the concept that they are in 

charge of a park which consists of several assets beyond the golf course 

Recent past management issues

• Richter Park functioned  without appropriate management in the hopes of saving 

money

• Richter Park does not have a clear administration model for the park to determine 

who is in charge and who is accountable

• In the recent past, some of the Authority members tried to run the park 

Limited accountability of Arts organizations to the park and park to the Arts 

organizations

• The Richter Arts Association is not a 501c3 and its budget is very limited

• Musicals at Richter has potential for a higher profit 

• Both organizations prefer to be autonomous from the Authority 

• Authority either assumed that the arts organizations were maintaining the Richter 

House or ignored the needs of the House
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Opportunities

The revitalized Richter Park Authority is taking responsibility for the entire park and its 

role in the park

The new General Manager has made great strides in creating a culture of customer 

service and accountability

The highly qualified Grounds Superintendent has created a culture of pride for the 

condition of the golf course

The highly regarded and experienced Golf Professional provides renown and credibility 

to the golf programs

The passionate Art Organizations have rallied to save their beloved Richter House 

The established staff has provided historical and anecdotal information regarding the 

park and a renewed interest in providing high quality service 

Challenges

There is still an unclear protocol in regards to accountability with the city

The relationship with the Arts organizations is still not defined

The existing administration model is still too fragmented with unclear chain of 

command and no defined benchmarks

A traditional view of investment in qualified staff and the facilities

Few accountability benchmarks
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Administration Plan Overview

The city is the Owner

• provides a clear understanding of Richter’s place within the city

• supports the park’s ability to sustain itself.

The Richter Park Authority is the board of directors

• ultimately responsible for the success of the entire park 

• reports back to the city 

• provides guidance and support to the general manager

• provides guidance and support to FORe

General manager is the everyday manager of the park

• responsible for reporting to the Richter Park Authority 

• responsible for managing all aspects of the park

• responsible to provide clear guidelines to other park managers and staff

• provide guidance and support to the arts organizations

Grounds superintendent, Golf Pro, and other managers are specialists

• responsible for the success of their division of the park

• responsible to report back to the General Manager

• responsible to provide clear guidelines to their assistants and staff

Arts Organizations are accountable to the park

• accountable for the management of their organization

• maintain control over artistic content and programs 

• provide reports to the general manager regarding programming requirements, 
schedule and financial information

• must commit to their continued presence in the Park

Friends of Richter is a support organization for the park

• responsible for fundraising for the park

• responsible for obtaining and administering grants for the park

• provide reports to general manager

• provide guidelines to its volunteers

• support the Authority at their request

• responsible for administering the endowments under the guidelines of the master 
plan
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Accountability Benchmarks

The City

• Provide yearly analysis of the City of Danbury strategic plan to Richter Park so 

that Richter Park can meet the needs of the residents of the City of Danbury

• Provide assistance in developing economic strategies, grant writing, bonding

• Review quarterly and annual reports and ensure that the Authority is protecting 

the assets of Richter Park

• Appoint members that will enhance the Authority’s capabilities to implement this 

master plan and the golf course master plan

• Support the Authority’s decisions if they are in keeping with the master plan

The Richter Park Authority

• Provide reports to the city that fully describe all aspects of the status of Richter 

Park

• Provide clear direction to the general manager through policies that are defined in 

the Richter Park Handbooks

• Manage park to be sustainable 

• Provide realistic budgets that include future investment in the park

• Provide strategic planning that is in keeping with this master plan and the golf 

course master plan

• Honor the staff , the volunteers and the park users

• Develop and monitor accountability benchmarks for general manager, arts 

organizations and FORe

• Create Construction Committee for management of capital improvements

The General Manager

• Provide reports to the authority that fully describe the monthly, quarterly and 

yearly status of the park

• Work within the budget

• Provide clear direction to the assistant managers, staff, FORe, and arts 

organizations

• Manage all aspects of the park

• Communicate to the chairman of the Authority

• Communicate and work with the Arts organizations

• Provide a culture of excellence to the entire staff

• Enforce the rules of the park

• Develop accountability benchmarks for staff

• Manage within the parameters of the Richter Park Handbooks
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FORe

• Provide support for the economic needs of the park

• Provide quarterly and annual reports to the general manager

• Provide administration of all endowments 

• Provide a fundraising, grant, etc., strategic plan to the authority

• Provide clear direction to their volunteers

• Respect the staff and the park users

The Assistant Managers

• Provide reports to the general manager

• Communicate with the general manager

• Work within their budgets

• Provide clear direction to the staff

• Provide excellent service to the park and the park users

• Develop accountability benchmarks for their staff

The Arts Organizations

• Provide financial reports to the general manager

• Provide a strategic plan to the general manager

• Coordinate schedule and program requirements with General Manager

• Provide facility status reports to the general manager

• Work with the authority to develop a plan to increase their participation in the 

economic health of the park with emphasis on the arts

• Communicate with the general manager and to their representative on the 

authority

• Communicate and work with each other

• Respect the facility and the staff

• Respect other park users 

• Provide clear direction to their volunteers
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The Staff

• Follow the rules as outlined in the Richter Park Employee Handbook

• Provide excellent work

• Respect the park and the supervisors

• Provide excellent customer service

• Respect the volunteers

The Volunteers

• Follow the rules as outlined in the Richter Park Volunteer Handbook

• Respect the staff

• Respect the facility

• Provide excellent work and customer service

The Park User

• Follow the rules 

• Respect the staff

• Respect the facility

• Have fun
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Communication Plan Objectives

For a park to be successful, it must reach out to the public in which it serves and 

communicate its mission, vision, objectives, assets, rules, events, and economic needs. 

Richter Park has started to develop some elements of a communication plan but it needs 

to be more consistent and with a clear message that Richter Park is a recreational and 

arts facility developed for the residents of the City of Danbury. This communication 

plan will :

Develop the Richter “brand” of this breathtaking family recreational and arts facility.

Develop a seamless communication program that will maximize the use of the park  to 

both residents and nonresidents

Build relationships and support from the community

Enhance communication with the city

Enhance internal communication

Existing Conditions

Fragmented communication  model

Website is under construction but still promotes only the golf course 

Advertisement and promotions with emphasis on the golf course

• Coupons

• Television

• Hudson River Valley Pass

Member of organizations

• Golf

• Arts

• Chamber

Financial Reports are still limited by past practices

Restaurant does email marketing and newsletters

No clear Richter Park BRAND

Sporadic internal communication

Sporadic communication with city

Sporadic communication with community
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Page 88



StanleyStanley LaskerLasker Richter Memorial Park Master PlanRichter Memorial Park Master Plan

Communication PlanCommunication Plan

The Model

Develop Richter Brand

• Work with marketing consultant to develop the look for the Richter Park that is a 

recreational and arts facility whose purpose is to serve the residents of the City of 

Danbury

• Utilize this look in all materials, emails, merchandise

• Should include all aspects of the park 

Golf

Art

Tennis

Hiking

Dining

Environment

Public Reports

• Quarterly and Annual reports suitable for presentation to the city, grant agency, 

bank and general public. The Richter Park Annual Report should include 

financial information for all aspects of the park, attendance at the park, programs 

at the park, projects completed and projects planned, etc.

• Meets the requirements of the Richter Park charter

• Assists the Richter Park Authority and FORe in obtaining funding through loans, 

grants and endowments

• Reflects the Richter Brand in format and content

• Provides the city with a clear view of the state of the park 

• Provides a resident of the city with an understanding of the state of the park

• Provides a potential donor with an understanding of the park and an 

understanding of how their money is being utilized
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In House Communication

• Reports

Richter Park Authority provides strategic plan and budget to general 

manager

The general manager provides monthly reports to the Richter Park

Authority as a snapshot of the state of the entire park for that month

The other managers of the park provide the general manager reports on a 

monthly and annual basis to be included in the general manager’s report

The general manager provides an annual report to the Richter Park 

Authority that then becomes the framework for Richter Park Annual 

Report

The arts provides monthly and annual reports to the general manager as a 

snapshot of the state of the arts for that time period. These reports should 

include financial reports, programming reports, attendance reports and any 

other information that would assist the general manager and Richter Park 

Authority in providing services to the arts. The information in these reports 

will be included in the annual report.

Other organizations (tennis, hiking, etc) provide monthly and annual 

reports to the general manager to be included in general manager’s report

Monthly reports from FORe to the general manager to be included in the 

general manager’s report. FORe should also provide an annual report and 

audit to the Richter Park Authority.

• Manuals

Authority Member Manual which provides information regarding the park, 

the role of the Richter Park Authority, the responsibility of being an 

Authority member

Employee Manual which outlines the benefits and responsibilities of being 

a Richter Park employee

Volunteer Manual which outlines the benefits and responsibilities of being 

a Richter Park volunteer

Procedure(s) Manuals which standardizes procedures 

Cash handling

Customer service

Disciplinary steps

Maintenance

Procurement

Rule enforcement
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• Meetings

Richter Park Authority meetings

Committee meetings

Weekly staff meetings

• Events

Appreciation events

Employee and/or Volunteer Picnic

Holiday Party for all employees and volunteers

Employee and Volunteer of the Month lunch

End of season for arts and golf party

Celebration events

Special event for when Richter park reaches a specific benchmark

Ambassador Program

• Encourage all authority members, arts members, staff and volunteers to be 
ambassadors for the park

• Develop a recognition for the best Richter Park ambassador including an award 
ceremony

Website

• Design to be a portal to the entire park

Golf page

Art page

Hiking page

Tennis page

Dining page

• Outreach and education regarding golf, art, hiking and the environment of the 
park

• Comprehensive regarding activities including golf, art, hiking tennis and general 
events

• City of Danbury resident page 

• Nonresident page 

• Business page with links

• Database collection tool

• Sponsorship opportunities
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Database/email

• Collect names from every resource including website, guest book, tee information, 
arts, hiking sign in book, tennis sign in book, lists 

• Develop email program to communicate with people who have used the park or are 
interested in the park

• Quarterly updates that announce events and sponsorships

• Email notifications of important news or alerts

Customer Maintenance

• Courtesy is the most important tool. Procedures of how to answer phone, book a tee 
time, answer questions, direct users, etc become part of the employee’s benchmark. 
The best customer is a repeat customer.

• Amenities that enhance the Richter Park experience

• Small giveaways that a customer can take away and remember the park

Pens

Tees

Golf towels

• Satisfaction surveys handed to customer at end-of-round, program, meal, or on web

• RESPOND to all inquiries, complaints, surveys

Media

• Expand knowledge of the Park through diverse press releases regarding events and 
assets of the park

• Promote events through all media

• Position Richter for awards and designation that would be newsworthy

Events

• Yearly gala that promotes all aspects of the park

• 50th Anniversary events for 2018

• Breakfasts to raise funds for  the park

• Tournaments that raise the profile of the park

• Art Shows that return Richter back to the premier art venue in the region

• Musicals that promote the uniqueness of the park

Musical/golf event that is based on a famous golfer

Musical on the course

• Festivals that promote the seasonal beauty of the park

Spring festival

Fall or Halloween event

Winter or Holiday events

• Nutmeg Games
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Education

• Seminars

Golf playing

Golf maintenance

Art

Tennis

Hiking

Environment

Music

• Workshops either related to the seminars or independent on similar topics

• Intern program

Golf

Art

Hiking

Maintenance

Business

Fundraising promotions

• Brochures that describe the park and the benefits of being a FORe member, and 

arts supporter, etc

• Richter merchandise for sale with percentage going to FORe

• Richter mascot developed and used to promote the park 

Grant Proposals

• Richter brand in all packaging

• Annual report becomes part of the package

Networking

• Memberships

• Attendance at community events

• Seminars

Connection to tourism

• Get on local tourism websites

• Stay and play programs with local hotels

• Relationship with other  local courses

Overflow

Local golf tour program with hotel, golf, dining, package
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A master plan is a tool that sets a course toward a vision. This master plan has already set 

Richter Park on a course to revitalize the park back into a premier golf course and arts 

facility. Changes have already been made that have improved the physical, economic, 

administration and communication aspects of the park. This document should be used as 

a reference to guide the Richter Park Authority in its decision making as they proceed to 

the 50th Anniversary of Richter Park. 

The Challenge

• We need perseverance to stay on-course with the vision

• We need vision in order not to lose sight of the future of Richter while worrying 

about the present

• We need flexibility in order to adjust as times and trends change

• We need commitment to the plans, the park, the staff and the volunteers

• We need an open mind because change is hard

• And most important, we need a TEAM 

City

RPA

Staff

Volunteers

Golf

Arts

Outdoor recreation

Tourism

The vision is met when we have:

• A revitalized sustainable park

• National designation for golf course

• Facilities that support the future Danbury resident

• An intimate, cutting edge art community 

• Another leg to the Danbury greenway system

• A team advocating for the entire park

• And incredible 50th, 100th and 150th anniversary celebrations honoring the 

founders that had the dream of Richter
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Connecticut Commission on Culture and Tourism

www.cultureandtourism.org

Musicals at Richter, Inc.

www.musicalsatrichter.org

The Trust for Public Land

www.tpl.org

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) -

Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF)

www.epa.gov/owm/cwfinance/cwsrf/index.htm

U.S. Environmental Grantmakers Association

http://ega.org

National Endowment for the Arts

www.nea.gov./grants

United States Tennis Association (USTA)

www.usta.com

Fairfield County Community Foundation

www.fccfoundation.org

Connecticut Council for Philanthropy

http://ctphilanthropy.org

Grants.gov

www07.grants.gov

United States Golf Association (USGA)

www.usga.org

Golf Course Superintendents Association of America (GCSAA)

www.gcsaa.org

U.S. Department of Energy - Federal Energy Management Program

www1.eree.energy.gov

Environmental Institute for Golf 

www.eifg.org

Louis R. Cappelli Foundation

www.cappelli-inc.com

National Recreation and Park Association

www.nrpa.org

The Kresge Foundation

www.kresge.org

The Toro Company

www.thetorocompany.com

Golf Datatech

www.golfdatatech.com
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PGA Performance Trak

performancetrak@pgahq.com

Richter Park Long Range Planning Committee

Salary Wizard

swz.salary.com

Danbury Community Network

www.danbury.org/arts

Western Connecticut State University

www.wcsu.ct.stateu.edu

Putnam County Visitors Bureau

www.visitputnam.org

Hudson Valley Golf

www.hudsonvalleygolf.com

Richter Park Golf Club

www.richterpark.com

Women in the Golf Industry

golfshow@bellsouth.net

City-Data.com

www.city-data.com

Play Golf America

www.playgolfamerica.com/resources

Economic Development Data and Information (EDDI)

www.cerc.com/eddi

Connecticut Magazine

www.connecticutmagazine.com

National Golf Foundation (NGF)

www.ngf.org

Golf 20/20 Vision for the Future

www.golf2020.com

National Alliance for Accessible Golf

www.accessgolf.org

Connecticut State Golf Association (CSGA)

www.csgalinks.org

United States Census Bureau

www.cerc.com

NGF Consulting

www.ngf.org/cgi/consulting

Housatonic Valley Cultural Alliance (HVCA)

www.hvcaed@snet.net
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American Society of Golf Course Architects (ASGCA)

www.asgca.org

Tennis Court Cleaning

www.ultimatewasher.com

X Sports

www.xsports.com

Audubon International Website

www.auduboninternational.org

Rally Master Backboards

www.rallymasterbackboards.com

Golf Structure Alternatives

www.golfstructures.com

Ezgo.com

www.ezgo.com

Golf Car Catalog.com

www.golfcarcatalog.com

City of Danbury

www.ci.danbury.ct.us

Golf Link.com

www.golflink.com

Course Trends

www.coursetrends.com

Centennial Golf Club of NY, LLC

www.centennialgolf.com

The Golf Club at Oxford Green

www.oxfordgreen.com

Weather.com

www.weather.com

Tashua Knolls Golf Course

www.tashuaknolls.com

Chronicle of Philanthropy

www.philanthropy.com/

The Foundation Center

www.fdncenter.org/

Foundations On-line

www.foundations.org/

Grantmakers for Effective Organizations (GEO)

www.geofunders.org/main/index.htm

Guide Star

www.guidestar.org
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Internet Nonprofit Center

www.nonprofits.org

Management Assistance Program for Nonprofits (MAP)

www.mapnp.org/

National Center for Nonprofit Boards (NCNB)

www.ncnb.org/

National Charities Information Bureau (NCIB)

www.giv.org/

The Inner Secrets of Successful Proposals

www.fanniemaefoundation.org/grants/successful_proposals.shtml

International Dark Sky Association

www.darksky.org
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Appendix

Appendix A – Physical

Overview for Richter Association for the Arts, December 2006

Cornish Mungeam Golf Course Master Plan

The Future of Richter House by Jean DaSilva

Rain Garden - Detail

Rain Garden - List of Plants

Permeable Pavers Detail

Appendix B – Economic

Audited Financial Statement 2007

Approved Budget 2008

USGA Fundraising Guide - "Approaching the Green“

Appendix C – Administration

Richter Park Long Range Committee Meeting of July 6, 2006

- SWOT Analysis Exercise

Charter for Stanley Lasker Richter Memorial Park Authority

By-Laws for Stanley Lasker Richter Memorial Park Authority

Deed to Stanley Lasker Richter Memorial Park

Appendix D – Communication

Branding in Public: Waste of Money? 
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OVERVIEW FOR RICHTER ASSOCIATION FOR THE ARTS 
December, 2006 

I.Parking lot 
A.  Away from golf traffic

B.  Closer to house with sufficient parking for handicapped

C.  Adequate lighting 

II.House
A. Complete updating of electrical wiring 

B. New track lighting for gallery viewing 

C. Handicap access made available. 

1.  sidewalk needs to be improved 

2.  outdoor lighting needs updating 

D. New roofing 

E. Complete updating of heating and plumbing 

F. Winterize so that the house can remain open all year 

G. Make upstairs rooms available for use 

      1. Dance/acting classes 

      2. Poetry/literature readings, etc. 

H.  Larger performance hall 

      1.  Extend salon by incorporating attached porch 

2.  Increase seating capacity 

            3.  Add a small stage with lighting in the new space. 

 I.   Update the kitchen 

           1.  Use by groups who might want to serve food, such as 

  a. Danbury Garden Club 

   b. Danbury Men’s Club 

We envision the house being used all year for various arts activities for small and 

larger groups.  Arts and crafts shows could be held.  All events would have to be 

scheduled around the programs of Richter Association for the Arts and Musicals at 

Richter.  If the improvements are made, many possibilities would open up for 

community uses.

As more events are scheduled, it might require someone to be assigned supervisory 

tasks to be sure that all groups use the house appropriately.  The income realized 

from increased activities could be used to pay for such a person.
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The present servants’ quarters might also be adapted to house the above 

mentioned supervisor who would provide service in exchange for housing.  In any 

event, these rooms should be equipped and furnished for productive use. 
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THE FUTURE  RICHTER HOUSE 

The Richter House, as it stands, provides many worthy arts programs as it 
has for decades.  Its programs fit the needs for those who love classical 
music, popular music, fine arts, sculpture, photography, drama, and opera.  It 
should not be removed from service until a larger, more appropriate facility 
can be erected.  It also might be of value in addition to a new facility.  The 
activities might center around programs related to art and drama instruction, 
creative writing and the fine arts. 

The Richter House should not be allowed to fall into further disrepair while 
we wait for a new structure.   

The new Richter House should be a complete cultural center.  There should 
be a separate gallery in which artists can mount shows which would go on 
for longer periods than they do at present.

The center should contain rooms for classes in the arts.  Painting, sculpture, 
drama, and dance could be taught here.  The facility should be equipped to 
handle the various activities connected with the teaching related to these 
arts:  kilns, pottery wheels, sinks, easels, barres for dancers, pianos, etc. 

There should be a small auditorium for lectures and performances by small 
groups of musicians, singers, poets, etc.  This room should accommodate 
approximately 100 people. 

A community theater should be a part of this complex.  Seating should be for 
approximately 300 people.  It could be a facility for a repertory theater group 
with dressing room facilities, lighting, audio, set construction, etc.   

Office and storage space is also essential for theater productions and the 
other activities. 

This facility should have easy access and ample parking.   

If refreshments are to be served during the events held here, then an 
adequate kitchen facility will be necessary.

Submitted by Jean DaSilva 

Page 133



Page 134





Page 136



1

DRAFT

Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Audited Financial Statements with
Report of Independent Certified Accountants 

Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Page 137



Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Table of Contents 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

       
       
               Page

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants .......................................................................1

Supplementary Information (Unaudited): 

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis ........................................................................................2 

Audited Financial Statements:  

 Statements of Net Assets .................................................................................................................8
 Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets ................................................9 
 Statements of Cash Flows............................................................................................................. 10 
 Notes to Financial Statements...................................................................................................... 11 

Page 138



Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority

(A Component Unit of the City of Danbury, Connecticut)

Statements of Net Assets

As of December 31,

DRAFT
2007 2006

Assets
  Current assets:

    Cash and cash equivalents 339,255$ 262,324$

    Prepaid expenses and other 7,572 -                 

        Total current assets 346,827 262,324

   Capital assets:

    Land 842,385 842,385

    Golf course development and improvement 2,554,623 2,497,666

    Buildings and improvements 2,011,363 1,997,212

    Tennis complex 94,975 94,975

    Grounds maintenance equipment 1,005,894 825,686

    Administration equipment and furnishings 50,545 31,770

      Total Capital Assets 6,559,785 6,289,694

      Less: accumulated depreciation (3,549,707) (3,322,395)

        Total Capital Assets, net of depreciation 3,010,078 2,967,299

        Total Assets 3,356,905$ 3,229,623$

Liabilities
  Current liabilities

    Accrued expenses 127,353$ 163,842$

    Fees paid in advance 8,821 -                 

    Current portion of long-term debt 61,334 21,667

        Total Current Liabilities 197,508 185,509

    Long-term debt 97,659 21,666

        Total Liabilities 295,167 207,175

Net Assets
    Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 2,851,085 2,923,966

    Restricted for debt service 158,993 43,333

    Unrestricted 51,660 55,149

        Total Net Assets 3,061,738 3,022,448

        Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,356,905$ 3,229,623$

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

 8
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority

(A Component Unit of The City of Danbury, Connecticut)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

For the Year Ended December 31,

DRAFT

2007 2006

Operating Revenues:
    Charges for services 2,035,820$       1,834,824$       

Operating Expenses:
    Salaries and wages 818,386           696,931           

    Employee benefits 208,225           184,025           

    Golf course maintenance 293,536           286,389           

    Facility repairs and maintenance 73,173             27,738             

    Equipment repairs and maintenance 35,880             52,057             

    Administrative operations 44,913             33,099             

    Operating supplies - golf 23,080             11,196             

    Utilities 95,026             92,768             

    Professional & contractual expenses 28,193             50,506             

    Insurance 33,298             33,963             

    Depreciation 227,312           209,386           

    Equipment leasing 62,139             64,284             

    Facility improvements 48,740             4,564               

    Interest 7,582               5,851               

    Credit card fees 31,222             34,310             

      Total Operating Expenses 2,030,704         1,787,067         

        Operating Income (Loss) 5,116               47,757             

Non-Operating Revenues:
    Interest and miscellaneous 34,174             7,733               

      Total Non-Operating Revenues 34,174             7,733               

Changes in Net Assets 39,290             55,490             

Total Net Assets at Beginning of Year (restated) 3,022,448         2,966,958         
Total Net Assets at End of Year 3,061,738$ 3,022,448$       

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority

(A Component Unit of the City of Danbury, Connecticut) 

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31,

DRAFT

2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
  Cash received from customers and others 2,046,451$   1,837,868$

  Cash received from investments 9,865             4,689

  Cash paid to suppliers (798,342)       (707,398)

  Cash paid to employees and related benefits (1,026,611)    (880,956)

    Net cash provided by operating activities  231,362        254,203

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
  Purchases of equipment, improvements and Master Plan design (270,091)       (39,171)

  Proceeds under capital leases 174,408        -

  Principal payments on capital leases (37,081)         -

  Principal paid on capital debt (21,667)         (21,667)

    Net cash used for capital  and related financing activities (154,431)       (60,838)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  76,931          193,365

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 262,324        68,959

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 339,255$     262,324$

Reconciliation of change in net assets to net cash 

provided by operating activities:

  Change in net assets 39,290$        55,490$

  Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net 

  cash provided by operating activities:

    Depreciation 227,312        209,386

  Changes in net assets and liabilities:

    Prepaid expenses and other (7,572)           5,682

    Accrued expenses (36,489)         (16,355)

    Fees paid in advance 8,821            -

Net cash provided by operating activities 231,362$     254,203$

Cash paid for interest costs 7,413$         5,851$

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

11

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting Entity 

The Authority, a component unit of the City of Danbury, Connecticut (the “City”), was created for the 
purpose of operating the recreational facilities located in Danbury, Connecticut in a manner similar to 
private business enterprises where the cost of providing services to the general public on a continuing 
basis is primarily financed through user charges.

An independent Board of Directors governs the Authority.  The board members are selected on a 
rotating basis by the Mayor of the City and confirmed by its’ Common Council. The City is potentially 
liable for any operating deficits and has provided grants and bond proceeds to fund land acquisitions 
and long-term improvements in prior years.  Additionally, in accordance with City ordinance the 
Authority is required to pay over the net receipts, as defined, each year to the Treasurer of the City to be 
placed in the City’s General Fund.

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present all the 
significant activities on which the Authority exercises oversight responsibility for the year ended 
December 31, 2006. 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 

The Authority is considered an Enterprise fund.  The Authority’s operations and balances are accounted 
for using a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, net assets, revenues 
and expenses.  Enterprise funds are established to account for operations that are financed and operated 
in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the intent is that the costs of providing goods 
and services on a continuing basis are financed or recovered primarily through user charges.

The financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“GAAP”) applicable to governments.  Under Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 20, the Authority follows (1) all GASB pronouncements and 
(2) Financial Accounting Standards Board Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board 
Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins issued on or before November 30, 1989, except those 
which conflict with a GASB pronouncement. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considered all highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents. 
Certain prior year investments with maturities of three months or less have been reclassified to cash and 
cash equivalents to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

12

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Capital Assets and Depreciation 

Capital assets consist of equipment and improvements and are recorded at cost.  Donated fixed assets 
are valued at estimated fair market value on the date donated.  Depreciation of capital assets is computed 
and recorded by the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives of the various classes of depreciable 
capital assets range from 5 to 40 years.  The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operations as 
incurred.

Unpaid Compensated Absences 

Employees of the Authority are entitled to certain compensated absences as vacation leave based on 
their length of employment.  Accumulated vacation leave is recorded as an expense and liability as the 
benefits accrue to the employees. 

Net Assets

Net assets are the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net assets invested in capital assets, are 
capital assets less depreciation.  Net assets are reported as restricted when there are legal limitations 
imposed on their use by the Authority or external restrictions by other governments, creditors or 
grantors.  Unrestricted net assets are all other net assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or 
“invested in capital assets, net of related debt.”

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

13

NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Authority will not be able to 
recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of the an 
outside party.  The Authority does not have an investment policy and does not have a deposit policy for 
custodial credit risk.

The Authority’s cash deposits were in qualified public institutions as defined by State statute.  Under 
this statute, any bank holding public deposits must at all times maintain, segregated from other 
assets, eligible collateral in an amount equal to a certain percentage as determined based on the 
bank’s risk-based capital ratio.  The amount of public deposits is determined based on either the 
public deposits reported on the most recent quarterly call report, or the average of the pubic 
deposits reported on the four most recent quarterly call reports, whichever is greater.  The collateral 
is kept in the custody of the trust department of either the pledging bank or another bank in the 
name of the pledging bank.

Cash Deposits

At December 31, 2007 the carrying amount of the Authority's deposits was $339,255, and the bank 
balance was $378,062.  $100,000 of the bank balance was covered by Federal Depository Insurance and 
$278,062 was covered by collateral held by the pledging financial institution, segregated from its other 
assets as provided in accordance with State Statues.  The fair value of all cash and cash equivalents is 
equal to its carrying amount.  At December 31, 2007 $643 of the Authority’s total deposits of $339,255 
was restricted for use by the Danbury Amateur Tournament. 

At December 31, 2006 the carrying amount of the Authority's deposits was $262,324, and the bank 
balance was $271,592.  At December 31, 2006 $876 of the Authority’s total deposits of $262,324 was 
restricted for use by the Danbury Amateur Tournament. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Authority had all of its cash deposits and investments in one 
financial institution located in the State of Connecticut.  The Authority has not experienced any losses 
on such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on those deposit 
balances because of the credit worthiness of the institution and the requirements under the State 
statute.
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

14

NOTE 3 - PENSION PLAN 

The Authority has established a deferred compensation plan under Section 457 of the Internal Revenue 
Code covering all employees.  The Authority has elected to contribute 4% of eligible employee’s wages 
to the plan.  Employees can contribute a portion of their wages to the plan also.   An independent 
administrator holds all assets of the plan and the Authority does not exercise any control over the 
management of the plan assets.  During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Authority contributed 
$10,990 to the plan on eligible wages of $XXX,000.  During the year ended December 31, 2006 the 
Authority contributed $11,000 to the plan on eligible wages of $283,000.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Authority has received grants from the City since inception in the amount of $1,840,649.  These 
amounts were used to finance the park acquisition, long-term improvements and initial operating costs.  
The Authority has not received any such grants in the last six years.  In accordance with an ordinance of 
the City, the Authority is required to pay over the net receipts semi-annually of each year (gross receipts 
less operation and maintenance expenses, a reserve for capital improvements not exceeding 25% of 
gross receipts for the fiscal year, and Authority debt service from the operation of the park), to the 
Treasurer of the City to be placed in the general fund of the City.  The net receipts are computed as 
follows for the year ended December 31: 

  2007  2006 
     

Gross receipts   $    2,035,820   $      1,834,824  

Less:  operation and maintenance expense         1,803,392             1,577,681  

         debt service             21,667                21,667  

         reserve for capital improvements           508,955              458,706  

Net receipts   $     (298,194)   $       (223,230) 

NOTE 5 - OPERATING REVENUES 

Operating revenues consist of the following: 

 2007 2006 
Greens fees  $   1,236,866  $   1,081,760  

Carts and locker rentals         254,320         307,175  

Season passes and identifications         175,466         111,076  

Tournaments and outings         276,572         269,355  

Facility rental income           70,096           65,458

 $   2,013,320  $   1,834,824  
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

15

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 

Capital asset activity was as follows: 

   Beginning     Ending  

    Balance   Increases   Decreases   Balance  

Capital Assets:      

    Land   $     842,385   $            -     $            -     $      842,385  

    Course development & improvement        2,497,666            56,957                -          2,554,623  

    Buildings & improvements        1,997,212            14,151                -          2,011,363  

    Tennis complex            94,975                 -                  -              94,975  

    Grounds maintenance equipment          825,686         180,208               -          1,005,894  

    Administration equipment             31,770           18,775                -              50,545  

Subtotal       6,289,694         270,091                -          6,559,785  

Accumulated Depreciation:      

    Course development & improvement        1,328,856           97,477                -          1,426,333  

    Buildings & improvements        1,228,808           78,481                -          1,307,289  

    Tennis complex            94,975                -                -              94,975  

    Grounds maintenance equipment          645,190           46,889                -            692,079  

    Administration equipment             24,566             4,465                -              29,031  

Subtotal       3,322,395         227,312                -          3,549,707  

Net Capital Assets  $   2,967,299   $      42,779  $            -     $   3,010,078  

The current year increases in grounds maintenance equipment includes $174,408 of equipment under 
capital leases.  Course development & improvement includes $11,200 of construction in progress for 
drainage work performed in 2007. 

NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM DEBT

A summary of long-term debt is as follows:  

 2007 2006 
$325,000 long-term bond dated November 1993 for greens     

construction project; due in annual installments of $21,667; final     
maturity November 2008; interest payable semi-annually at 
6.25%   $          21,266    $          43,333 

               21,666                43,333 

Less: current portion               21,666                21,667 

   $              -    $          21,666 
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

16

NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

On January 26, 2004 the Authority entered into an agreement with Wachovia Bank for a credit line in 
the amount of $100,000 bearing interest at the Bank’s Prime Rate plus .75%.  The total amount was 
subsequently increased to $175,000.  The line of credit is used for working capital needs of the 
Authority.  At December 31, 2007 and 2006 the credit line balance was $ -0-.

A summary of principal payments due on all long-term debt for the following five years is as follows: 

 Year ending December 31, 2008 $     21,666 
   
   
NOTE 8 - CAPITAL AND OPERATING LEASES 

During the year, the Authority has entered into agreements to lease golf course maintenance 
equipment with a total value of $174,408. Such agreements are, in substance, purchases (capital 
leases) and are reported as capital lease obligations. 

The following schedule presents future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2007: 

2008 2009 2010 2011 Total 

      

Minimum lease payments   $     43,298  $     43,298   $     39,211   $     18,924   $ 144,731  

Less: interest            (7,404) 
Present value of minimum 
lease payments       $ 137,327  

Amortization of the equipment under capital leases is included in depreciation expense for the year. 

On November 30, 2007, the Authority renegotiated its lease agreement with a supplier of golf 
equipment to provide golf carts.  The lease commences March 1, 2008 and has a 36 month term and 
includes all maintenance and insurance.  The minimum rental payments under the lease are 71,040 per 
year through October 2010.  Rental expense under expiring equipment leases was $59,400 for 2007 and 
$56,400 for 2006.  The Authority has a lease for office equipment commencing March 1, 2005 for a 
period of sixty months.  The minimum annual rental under this equipment lease is $3,000. Rental 
expense under this lease was $3,000 for 2007 and 2006. 
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

17

NOTE 8 - CAPITAL AND OPERATING LEASES (continued) 

The Authority is the lessor for space to an outside vendor to operate a restaurant facility.  The original 
lease term was for five years commencing in May 2000.  The lease had been extended for successive 
one-year terms through 2007.  On December 3, 2007, the Authority entered into a 10-year lease with the 
vendor commencing on May 15, 2008.  The lease includes an option for an additional 5-year term.  The 
base rent under the lease is $54,768 including amounts for utilities and snow plowing.  The annual lease 
revenue includes 3% annual increases.

The lease revenue was $53,110 and $49,993 for 2007 and 2006, respectively and is included as facility 
rental income in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets. 

NOTE 9 - RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, damage to, and theft or destruction of 
assets, error and omissions, injuries to employees and natural disaster.  The Authority endeavors to 
purchase commercial insurance for all insurable risks of loss.  During the year, the Authority contracted 
with insurance carriers for public officials liability insurance in the amount of $1 million per claim and $1 
million in the aggregate with a $1,000 deductible per claim, general commercial liability coverage in the 
amount of $1 million per claim, $2 million in the aggregate with no deductible, and automobile liability 
in the amount of $1,000,000 per claim and a $1,000 deductible.  Also in place is an umbrella policy with 
$10 million per claim with $10 million in the aggregate and a $10,000 deductible.  The Authority has had 
no significant reduction in the coverage on the above insurances from prior years.  The Authority has 
had no settlements on any claims that have exceeded insurance coverage in the current year or prior 
years.

The Authority has obtained health insurance coverage for its employee from a third party insurer.  
Workers compensation coverage has also been obtained from a third party insurer.  The premiums are 
calculated based upon accident history, compensation amounts and administrative costs.

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

On December 11, 2007, the Authority entered into employment agreements with the General Manager, 
Course Superintendant and Golf Professional.  The employment agreements become effective January 
1, 2008 and expire December 31, 2008.

In 2006 and 2007, the Authority discovered a misappropriation of cash receipts had occurred.  The 
Authority has conducted an internal investigation and has estimated that losses are approximately 
$55,000 for fiscal year 2006 and $30,000 for fiscal year 2007.  The Authority is pursuing recovery and 
has filed a claim with their insurance carrier.  The Authority has also filed a report with the Danbury 
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Stanley L. Richter Memorial Park Authority 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

December 31, 2007 and 2006

18

Police Department.  The matter is currently under investigation.  No accrual has been recorded for the 
lost revenues or the expected insurance recovery as of December 31, 2007.

NOTE 11 - RESTATEMENT

As a result of an environmental review of the Richter House, the Authority has determined that 
certain insulation and other materials used contain various amounts of asbestos.  The Authority has 
obtained estimates from asbestos abatement companies in order to assist in establishing the extent 
of its liability.  Based on discussions with the environmental engineers, it is the belief of the 
management of the Authority that the asbestos containing materials in the Richter House presented 
a liability prior to January 1, 2006.  Accordingly, the Authority restated its financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2005.  The effect of the restatement was to decrease the Authority’s 
unrestricted net assets as of January 1, 2006 by $52,000. 

NOTE 12 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On February 26, 2008, the Authority unanimously passed a resolution authorizing the issuance of 
$410,000 Revenue Bonds for renovations and improvements to the Richter Park golf course.  On 
April 3, 2008 the Authority received the funds. 
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Annual Pro-Rate

Quarterly payment due February 2008 13,375 13,375
New Lease Amount 5/08 54,768 36,512 May 15 2008-Decenber 15 2008
Snow Plowing 500 500
Excess Electric 19,880 13,253
Excess Oil 4,375 2,917
Total Rental 2008 92,898 66,557

Excess Electric
Estimated Electric based on 2007 48,000
Increase in Rates 10% 4,900
Total Electric 52,900
Offset per Lease -24,500
Excess 28,400
Lessee share 70% 19,880

Excess Fuel Oil
Estimated Oil based on 2007 8,500
Increase in Rates 10% 850
Total Oil 9,350
Offset per Lease -3,100
Excess 6,250
Lessee share 70% 4,375
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About the Writing of this Publication

Kyle Garry, the author of this guide, served as a USGA Fellow from 2001-2004. As a 
component of the two-year Fellowship curriculum, Kyle took part in a non-profit

management and fundraising course conducted by Bob Sharp of the Robert B. Sharp 
Company.  Through participation in this course, and in conjunction with his extensive 

work with USGA grant applicants and recipients, Kyle recognized a need for increased 
education on the topic of fundraising for many of the organizations the USGA supports.

Kyle proposed adding a third-year to his Fellowship and retuning to his home state to 
assist the Massachusetts Golf Association (MGA).  He would assist the MGA with its 

Fore Kids program and the development of The First Tee programming, while focusing 
on fundraising with the goal of developing a guide on that subject. The USGA, believing 
in the merits of such a guide, was pleased to extend Kyle’s Fellowship for a third year.

The guide that follows is written from knowledge gained by Kyle through the USGA 

Fellowship as well as the many real- life experiences he had in fundraising at the MGA.
We at the USGA hope that this guide proves useful to not only the many golf-related
non-profit organizations supported by the USGA, but any non-profit organization looking 

for a resource to assist with the ever-present and vital task of fundraising.
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Introduction

The USGA receives hundreds of grant applications from a diverse group of non-profit
organizations that range from small, grass-roots efforts with one instructor, to large, 

national organizations that have multi-million dollar budgets and hundreds of staff 
members.  Although these organizations couldn’t be more different in various areas, they 

do share two things in common: They believe that the game of golf can change peoples’ 
lives for the better, and they work year after year to raise the funds that keep their 
programs going.

Many non-profit staff and board members look at fundraising as a “necessary evil,” and 

as something that takes away valuable time that could be better used to serve the people 
in their programs; however, as a 501(c)(3) organization, their non-profit has the 
responsibility to raise money to accomplish your mission and to ensure the long-term

viability of your programs.  Regardless of their professional specialties, non-profit board 
members and staff members must therefore become skilled fundraisers if they wish to 

maximize their contributions to their organization.

The main reason that most people fear fundraising is that they are simply not prepared to 

make “the ask.”  Just as you wouldn’t step onto the first tee at a golf course without ever 
having practiced on the range, you are setting yourself up for failure if you ask someone 

for money without first preparing yourself and your organization for fundraising success.
Successful solicitation is actually the culmination of weeks, months and sometimes years 
of planning by your staff and board.

This guide provides step-by-step instructions that will first develop your organization to 

the point that you are ready to ask for money, and then actually provide blueprints for 
proven fundraising methods.  As you read through it, you may discover that you are 
already doing many things correctly, and that there are some areas that need 

improvement.  The key is to recognize that successful fundraising doesn’t happen 
overnight, but takes a coordinated effort between your board, your staff and your 

volunteers.

When the donations start to roll in, you will quickly discover the joy that accompanies 

successful fundraising.  When someone makes a donation, they are choosing to give you 
their hard-earned money rather than use it to buy groceries, pay the mortgage or take a 

vacation, because they believe in what you do and how you do it.  This makes fundraising 
the ultimate validation that your work is meaningful and is positively affecting the lives 
of others.  With this in mind, you will discover that fundraising is not a chore or a 

distraction, but an integral step toward fulfilling your mission.  In fact, you may even 
come to enjoy it.
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Developing a Board of Directors

The most important entity that supports and governs a non-profit organization is its Board
of Directors.  Because of this fact, it is nearly impossible for an organization to 

successfully fundraise without first developing a board that both recognizes and embraces 
its responsibilities.

Board Responsibilities
Every individual who volunteers to serve on your board has a list of responsibilities that 
he or she must attend to, many of which are covered here; however, I must emphasize 
that each member’s two primary roles relate directly to fundraising.  They are:

1. To give money to your organization.
2. To ask for money in support of your organization.

This reflects that a non-profit board’s main responsibility is to raise the funding that 
allows the organization to run its programs and pay for its overhead. Fundraising

management falls to the board because, in most cases (and ideally in all cases), boards are 
made up of the “movers and shakers” of the local community.  As such, they have the

capacity to donate money due to greater financial resources as well as access to a network
of similarly successful individuals who can be approached as prospective donors.

In addition to heading up fundraising, boards are also responsible for overseeing 
organizational governance.  Put another way, boards set all of the general policies that are 

implemented by the staff.  These include:
1. Hiring and evaluating the Executive Director.

As the governing body of the organization, the board must ensure that the 

head staff member is competent and is fulfilling his or her responsibilities.
If the board does not perform this evaluation, no one else in the 

organization will have the authority to do so.  To avoid conflicts of 
interest, it follows that the Executive Director should not serve on the 
board, as he or she could not be expected to objectively evaluate his or her 

own performance.

2. Defining and sticking to the organization’s mission.
Once the mission is defined, the board should ensure that all of the 
organization’s outreach efforts are consistent with its main purpose.

3. Strategically planning for the future.

The board should be creating objectives that are specific and measurable 
for all aspects of the organization, therefore setting the course for years to 
come.
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4. Ensuring that the organization is financially sound.
Boards should closely review all financial statements and accounting 

methods to ensure that figures are reported honestly and that budgets are 
followed carefully.  Additionally, the board should make certain that all 

donations, whether from foundations or individuals, are used for their 
intended purposes.

Looking at the list of requirements, it becomes immediately clear that it takes a special 
individual who is willing to donate sufficient time and money in order to become a 

member of your board.  Many people already lead extremely busy lives and may be able 
to fulfill some, but not all, of the requirements.  The best advice for you is not to 
compromise when filling seats.  In order to develop a well-governed organization that is 

poised for fundraising success, you have to look harder for ideal board members as 
opposed to settling for people who may be less qualified.

Creating a Board Profile
The first step in developing a board that will best serve your organization is to create an 

ideal board profile that includes parameters for board size as well as board makeup.
Board size is fairly straightforward, and should ideally be between 11 and 21 members,

often depending on the size and scope of the non-profit organization.  This will allow the 
organization to sufficiently spread out the work load yet still maintain adequate 
communication between all board members and staff.

As for the makeup of your board, the first consideration is that each member should 

possess, as national fundraiser Bob Sharp puts it, “The Four W’s,” which are work,
wisdom, wealth and wallop:

1. Work – This is the willingness to put in the time and effort required to fulfill 

board responsibilities.  This includes attending meetings, working fundraisers, 
mailing flyers, interacting with staff, etc.

2. Wisdom – Aside from general intelligence, this also includes knowledge of the 
organization’s operations and related industry.  For a golf program, this often 
means a familiarity with the game and its values.  You may also want to 

identify board members with certain expertise in areas such as accounting and 
law and perhaps members with ties to the media and partner organizations.

3. Wealth – This relates to each member’s capacity to give a personally
significant gift to your organization.  Not all board members need to be multi-
millionaires; however, they do need to recognize that giving is one of their 

responsibilities.
4. Wallop – The least obvious, but possibly most important “W”, is the 

member’s ability to “get things done.” This ability usually stems from the 
board member’s passion for the organization and the work it is doing.
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After considering these general qualities, it’s time to get specific.  The next step is to 
brainstorm other characteristics that board members should possess that will allow them 

to best serve your organization.  For a junior golf program, these will most likely be 
exhibited by the following individuals:

• Local Business Owners and Managers – These people have both the
capacity to personally give as well as the network of other “movers and 

shakers” that could potentially be asked for money.

• Local Politicians – Golf programs and courses often require permitting 
and other legal services that are more easily attained with the assistance of 

a city or state government official who knows the “ins and outs” of the 
permit application process.

• Golf Industry Professionals – These include teaching professionals, golf 
course superintendents, club managers, equipment representatives, etc.

The golf world represents an extremely tightly-knit community; therefore,
having golf industry professional affiliated with your organization can 
lead to in-kind (a.k.a. donated) equipment and services that are often 

invaluable to junior programs, especially those that may be struggling with 
cash flow.

Once you’ve taken into account these three areas, you must then define other qualities 
that relate specifically to who your organization serves.  For example, if your program 

has an educational component, you may want to reach out to teachers or school 
administrators.  Programs that incorporate people with disabilities may want to speak 

with therapists or physicians.  It all comes down to ensuring that your board is equipped 
to provide a strong foundation both through the “Four W’s” as well as through their 
professional expertise.

After creating this board profile, you must examine your current board to see if there are 

any areas where you may have too little or too much representation.  If you feel that your 
board is in any way unbalanced, it may be time to seek out individuals who could help to
round it out.

Recruiting New Members
If your board profile illustrates that you need additional members, you must make sure 
that your recruiting efforts not only identify the right candidates, but also convey all 
requirements of board membership.  The biggest pitfall in recruiting new board members 

is the tendency to “sugar coat” board members’ responsibilities.  While this may initially 
enable you find quite a few people who are interested in joining your organization, it will 

lead to trouble down the road if the new members do not have a clear idea of what is 
expected of them.
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To avoid this, you must be diligent in creating a detailed list of board responsibilities or 
job descriptions.  These should be both specific and, if at all possible, measurable and 

quantifiable.  They should include the following:
1. To commit a specific number of hours per month for board activities.

2. To attend a certain percentage of board meetings per year.  This section 
should also state how often the board meets as a reference.

3. To serve on a specific number of committees (see below for a discussion 

on committee structure).
4. To give a personally significant donation.

5. To raise a specific amount of money through personal solicitation and
through the attendance of special events.

Along with these general requirements, you could also include responsibilities that are 
specific to your organization, such as serving as a mentor for a participant, volunteering 

at special events, or purchasing a foursome in a fundraising golf tournament.  Again, the 
key is that all potential duties are spelled out in detail on the front end.

It may seem like a daunting task to generate a list of 11 to 21 members who can meet all 
of these requirements, and it is extremely rare for one person to have the network to do 

so.  Therefore, you must use your existing human resources, including staff, existing 
board members, volunteers, and all other constituents, to think of friends and relatives 
who could serve on the board. Realize that only a small percentage of prospective board 

members will be able to make the necessary commitment; therefore, your initial list of 
candidates must be large enough to allow you to narrow it down to the 11 to 21 who meet 

all requirements.

Committees
In addition to your Executive Board, you should create a number of sub-committees that 
will allow you to maximize the effectiveness of your volunteers.  These committees can 

subdivide the workload and, most importantly, allow board members to focus on specific 
issues rather than simply getting a global view of the organization.  A list of essential 
committees includes:

• Fundraising

• Finance and Budgeting

• Board Evaluation

• Nominating

• Programming

When assigning board members to these specific committees, you must consider each 
individual’s areas of expertise.  For example, a professional accountant would be an 

obvious choice for the Finance and Budgeting Committee, while a golf professional 
would make valuable contributions to the Programming Committee. Each committee

should have an individual chairman who oversees all members and activities.
Committees should work to create recommendations that are then voted on and either 
adopted or declined by the entire executive board. 
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In many cases, it may be appropriate to allow individuals who are not on the Executive
Board to serve on sub committees.  If there is an individual who wishes to get involved 

with your organization but cannot meet all of the Executive Board requirements, he or 
she may be able to serve on a sub-committee.  This will allow you to further distribute the 

workload, as well as involve additional experts who can make valuable contributions to 
your organization.

Relationship Between the Board and Staff
In a nutshell, the board sets policies and the staff implements them.  This relationship 

requires constant communication between the two groups so that each can fill its role
effectively.  Staff members, including the Executive Director, should play an active role 

at board meetings, reporting on the progress of the board’s initiatives, and even 
suggesting improvements.  It is the board’s responsibility to keep track of all of its 
initiatives and to hold the staff accountable for implementing them.

In order to maximize the effectiveness of this dialogue, detailed minutes from board 

meetings should be recorded and distributed to all board members and staff.  The primary 
function of these minutes is to highlight action items that are recommended by the board.
This will create a list of tasks for the staff and will allow the board to members to track 

progress and make adjustments as necessary.

A Final Thought…
It is important to reiterate that although the list of a board’s responsibilities is extensive, 
the group’s primary role is to create the base for all fundraising efforts by giving and 

asking for money.  This is illustrated by the fact that many grant-making institutions are 
starting to require that 100% of board members in applicant organizations make a 

donation as a prerequisite for receiving grants.

Some non-profit organizations, especially at the grass roots level, have board members 

who flat-out refuse to give or to raise money.  While these individuals may be able to 
make an effective contribution to your organization at the committee level, they are not 

the best choice to serve on the Executive Board.  The board is the foundation of your 
organization, and by taking the time to adequately evaluate your needs and recruit 
members who can serve all of those needs, you will be on your way to more effectively 

raising money and serving the people in your programs.
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Creating a Case Statement

Now that your board is in place, it is time to define what your organization does, where it 

is today, and where it will be in the future.  At the USGA, we receive grant applications 
from organizations who can provide general answers to these questions; however, it is 
rare that we are handed a report that summarizes their current state of affairs as well as 

their future objectives.  Such a document is called a Case Statement.  This 5-10 page 
document defines your:

• Mission

• Goals

• Objectives (these are different than goals)

• History

• Current organizational structure

• Current and future financial picture

• Fundraising plan

A Case Statement is important in fundraising because, through its creation, an 
organization will determine its programming goals as well as how much funding it will 

need to reach those goals.  Additionally, the Case Statement is a valuable information 
piece that can be given to prospective donors as a quick reference to who you are, what 
you do and why you are worthy of a donation.

The creation of the Case Statement should be overseen by the Executive Board, and 

many organizations choose to create a sub-committee whose sole responsib ility is to 
develop it; however, because it includes information about the entire organization, staff 
members should be used as a resource during its creation and implementation. 

Components:

Mission Statement: The mission statement answers the question of why your 
organization exists and what problem(s) it is looking to solve.  It 

should be one to two sentences in length, and should, in the context 
of the entire Case Statement, entice the reader to want to read on.

An example of a mission statement that is used by The 
Massachusetts Golf Association for their ForeKids program is as 
follows:

“The MGA recognizes that the game of golf is unique in that it can be used to 

teach important life lessons such as honesty, integrity, sportsmanship and 
perseverance to all people, especially youth.  We also acknowledge that certain 
economic and social barriers exist that can prevent many youth from developing a 

lifelong relationship with the game and realizing its aforementioned benefits.”

The immediate reaction to this statement is, “OK, so how are you 

working to change this?”  The remainder of the Case Statement will 
answer this question.  Notice that the MGA does not say in the 
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Mission Statement that they want “to improve lives through golf.”
That may be one of their intentions, but any infinitive verbs (to do, 

to give, etc.) belong in the “goals” section of the Case Statement,
not in the Mission.

Goals: In this section, you should be providing bullet-pointed examples of 
how you will solve the problem that you posed in the Mission

Statement. You should be using infinitive statements, such as:

• To enable the youth of Massachusetts, regardless of 

race or socioeconomic background, to be introduced to 
golf in a fun and supportive setting.

• To highlight the various life skills that can be learned 
through the game in order to make participants better 
citizens as well as better golfers.

These statements should be ambitious and far-reaching.  You 

should imagine that if all of these goals were fully met, your 
organization’s mission would be accomplished.

Objectives: These differ from goals in that they are specific and measurable.
They are the milestones that you hope to reach within a certain 

time period.  For example:

• In 2003, the MGA will run 3 introductory golf clinics that will 

reach 600 disadvantaged youth from the communities of 
Boston, Worcester and Springfield.

These objectives will provide evidence of strategic planning by 
creating checkpoints that look three to five years into the future 

and show progress and expansion. For example, in 2004, the 
MGA may plan to expand its introductory clinics to reach 1,000 
kids from five communities.

These objectives are the main tool that the board can use to 

quantitatively evaluate the organization’s progress.  At each board 
meeting, the chairman should be able to reference the Case 
Statement to quickly determine where the organization is having 

successes and where changes need to be made.

History: This section describes the creation of the organization and the 
individuals who have been instrumental in its successes.  In most 
cases, it should give evidence of the organization’s progression and 

expansion (i.e. total participants reached has expanded from 200 in
1999 to over 3,000 today). The length of the History should be 

sufficient to tell your story without boring the reader or causing 
him or her to lose track of the mission and goals.  In most cases, a 
one-page History is more than sufficient.
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Current Structure: This should contain two main pieces of information: an 

organizational chart of the staff that illustrates who reports to 
whom, and a list of current board members and their occupations.

Some organizations also choose to include biographies of key staff 
and board members.

The primary purpose of the Structure section is to prove to current 
and prospective donors that you have the right people in place to 

make the most of their investment in your organization.

Financial Picture: This section shows that you are financially stable and that you will

use your donor’s money wisely.  Philanthropic individuals and 
organizations will not give to you if they believe that their money 

may end up paying organizational debt as opposed to providing 
services to the people you are trying to help.  The Financial section 
of the case proves that you have planned for your financial future 

and that the organization has a solid financial foundation on which 
to build going forward.

It should ideally consist of a current balance sheet (income and 
expenses) as well as audited financial statements.  Additionally, 

you should be projecting a budget for those years in which you 
created programming goals.  These projections should be 

optimistic yet realistic.  You should be showing donors that you 
need their money but will have the future fiscal sustainability to be 
around for years to come.

The importance of this section of the Case cannot be 

overemphasized, as many individuals, and especially foundations, 
closely evaluate financial statements; therefore, if you don’t have 
much experience “running numbers,” make sure that you find a 

board member or a staff member who does.  The excuse of “I am 
not an accountant” will not be sufficient when asking people to 

invest their hard-earned money in your organization.

Fundraising Plan: And now we finally get to fundraising.  When planning for the 

future of their organization, many board and staff members 
immediately jump to fundraising because it is usually the most 

pressing need; however, it is nearly impossible to estimate how 
much money you will need to raise without first considering the 
size and scope of your programs, as well as your staffing and other 

budgetary needs.  Therefore, the fundraising plan is generated only 
after you have gone through the previous steps.
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The Fundraising Plan is basically a description of the various ways 
you will raise money, many of which will be described in the 

following sections of this guide.  Its main purpose is to show that 
you will use a variety of funding sources to generate money for 

your programmatic and administrative expenses.  It should also 
realistically project future funding sources.

Each section of the Fundraising Plan should provide narrative 
information on a funding source, how that source will be 

approached, and how much income it will generate.  Overall, it 
shows donors that they are not your sole providers, but that other 
members of the community also feel that you are worthy of 

support.

Using and Evaluating Your Case:

The Case Statement should be an organic document that evolves with your organization.
The only constant in non-profit organizations is change ; therefore, the Case Statement 
needs to be regularly evaluated by your board and staff to ensure that it is up to date and 

continues to give an accurate picture of your organization.

When done properly, a Case Statement is a very strong marketing piece, as it gives an 
overview of who you are and what you do, and can allow you to quickly respond to 
requests for information about your organization with a comprehensive and detailed 

document.  This is useful not only with prospective donors, but also with future board 
and staff members, members of the media, volunteers and anyone else who may wish to 
help in accomplishing your goals.
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Some Fundraising Fundamentals

Now that you have recruited the right people, defined your organizational goals and 

determined how much funding you will need to make those goals a reality, it is time to 
start raising money.  But first, we have to recognize a few principles that must be 
followed for successful fundraising.

A Necessary Foundation

The first principle is that all fundraising plans must be founded on a diverse group of 
individual donors.  At the USGA, we often see grant applications from organizations that

project the majority of their funding from a few grants and corporate sponsors or one
single fundraising event. Most are surprised to discover that, on an annual basis, 

individuals give more money to charity than foundations and corporations combined.
Additionally, institutional giving is vulnerable to anything from a bad business quarter to 
a change in giving guidelines; therefore, non profits that project a large percentage of 

their funding from foundations and corporations could be on course for disaster.
Diversifying your donor base amongst a large group of individuals is the only way to 

ensure that you will meet your financial goals year after year.

In addition to insulating your organization from fundraising fluctuations, developing this 

broad base of individual donors will provide you with the freedom to run your 
organization as you see fit.  Institutional donors like foundations and corporations often 

have agendas of their own that they want to see reflected in the programs that you run. 
Individuals, on the other hand, tend to support an organization on the basis of its overall 
mission, and will usually mandate fewer restrictions on how their money can be used.

Raising money through many individuals is undoubtedly more difficult than writing a 

single grant application or conducting one meeting with a corporation that might result in 
a large donation; however, it is the only way to meet all of your fundraising goals.

The Five “I’s”

There is a sequential process to recruiting individual donors that is symbolized by “The 
Five I’s.”  They are:

1. Identify – Find the people who could potentially give you money.

2. Inform – Give them information about who you are and what you do.
3. Interest – Get their attention about what your needs are.

4. Involve – Allow them to feel like a part of your team.
5. Invite – Ask them to give to your organization.

These five steps highlight the fundamental principle in fundraising that people give 
money to organizations that take a more personal approach.  Many board members and 

staff are anxious about fundraising, and therefore hastily jump from the “Identify” stage 
to the “Invite” stage without adequately covering the three other steps.  People will give 
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you their money only when they feel a personal connection to your cause.  It is your job 
to create this connection through “I’s” two through four.

Moving Up the Ladder

All donors should be classified into levels by how much they give.  Once someone 
donates to you for the first time, your focus should then shift to ensuring that they give to 

you again and increase their donation the next time around.  In this fashion, you move 
them up the “Giving Ladder.”

It should be noted that the dollar amounts for each donor level are subjective. While a

$500 donation to a small grass-roots organization may place a donor in the “Major 
Donor” category, that same gift amount may be only at the base level for a large national 

organization.  It is therefore up to each individual organization to look at its donor base to 
determine defining criteria for each level.

Transitioning a donor from the Base Level to the Major Donor level may take years, as 
most people aren’t willing to commit significant amounts of money until they feel that 

they are truly connected with an organization and they trust that their money is being 
used wisely.  It is your job to facilitate this process by continuously informing your 
donors of your activities and insuring that they feel involved with all that you do.  This is 

made easier when both your staff and board realize that cultivating donors is a three step 
process that represents the “Fundraising Mantra”:

1. Acquiring a gift.
2. Renewing the donation in the future.
3. Upgrading the donor to a higher level.
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Your work is not done once someone gives a donation.  Rather, this is just the first step in 

the long process of building a close relationship with a donor so that he or she eventually 
feels comfortable enough to venture to the top of the ladder.

The Fundraising Pyramid

In order to encourage a donor to increase his or her gift, you must develop different types 
of giving campaigns that relate specifically to each donor’s level of commitment to your 

organization.  These various campaigns are illustrated by the following “Fundraising 
Pyramid:”

Each of the levels of this Pyramid will be examined in greater detail later in this guide; 
however, there are various observations that can be made about the Pyramid at this point.

First, the Pyramid is structured very much like the Fundraising Ladder in that it is the 
board and staff’s responsibility to transition donors from the base level (Direct Mail) to 
the top level (Panned Giving).  This is most successfully accomplished not by jumping 

around, but by moving sequentially from level to level.

You will also notice that as you move vertically up the pyramid, two things happen.
First, the number of solicitations, or how many people asked for donations, decreases.
Second, the average gift amount increases.  This relates to the “Acquire, Renew and 

Upgrade” strategy, whereby you Acquire donors through an impersonal Direct Mail 
campaign, and then proceed to Renew and Upgrade their gifts to reach additional levels 

of the Pyramid. Like the Fundraising Ladder, a donor’s willingness to move up the 
pyramid depends on your ability to develop a close and trusting relationship with that
person.
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The Annual Fund

The Annual Fund is the foundation for all of your fundraising efforts.  Through this fund, 

you raise money to pay for the day-to-day expenses of running your organization,
including paying your staff, rent and administrative expenses, as well as running your 
programs.  Because this money will be used for a variety of purposes, it must be raised in 

a way that will allow for the fewest restrictions on the donations.  The only way to 
accomplish this is to develop the Annual Fund using a broad base of individual donors, 

all of whom give relatively small individual donations.  The sum of these individual 
donations will (hopefully) equal your expenses for each year.

This guide will outline a prescription for an Annual Fund that is based on a broad, diverse 
donor base.  This sample Annual Fund includes the following elements:

1. Acquisition Campaign
2. Gift Clubs
3. Special Events

4. Major Donations

It should be noted that these four components equate to the Fundraising Ladder in that 
each represents a stage of commitment that an individual makes to your organization.  As 
you read through this section, be sure to remember that the ultimate goal of fundraising, 

and especially the Annual Fund, is to get people to renew and upgrade their gift amounts.

The Acquisition Campaign

An Acquisition Campaign is defined as the mass solicitation of people through the use of 

Direct Mail, which includes mailed letters, pamphlets and other informative documents.
It is basically the “shotgun approach” to fundraising, whereby you send out a massive 

amount of solicitations in the hopes of successfully hitting your target and getting a 
response only a small percentage of the time.

One of the most telling statistics about an Acquisition Campaign is that, even when you 
do everything right in terms of utilizing an up-to-date mailing list and creating an 

effective solicitation piece, you can only expect 2% of your prospects to make a donation.
This seemingly makes an Acquisition Campaign a very inefficient way to raise money, 
especially when you consider the following example:
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The American Junior Golf Group (AJGG) sends out a direct mail solicitation 
to a mailing list of 1,000 people who signed up for their newsletter at a local 

golf expo.  Printing and mailing costs total $0.50 per letter, and because they 
take the time to properly produce their solicitation letter, they achieve the 2% 

response rate.  On average, each donor gives a $30 gift.

Income:

1,000 letters x 2% = 20 gifts
20 gifts x $30 per gift = $600

Expenses:
1,000 letters x $0.50 per letter = $500

Net Profit:

$600 Raised - $500 Expenses = $100

So, after all the work of compiling a mailing list, creating the solicitation and sending it
to the prospects, The American Junior Golf Group only ends up $100 richer.  With this 
bottom line, it is difficult to see why an organization would even consider an Acquisition 

Campaign.  Yet, if you look at your mail for any given week, you will see a number of 
direct mail solicitations from schools, hospitals, foundations and other non-profit

organizations that are looking for donations, so there must be an upside.

In order to appreciate the benefits of an Acquisition Campaign, you need to look beyond

the dollars to see what else the AJGG gained through this particular solicitation.  In 
addition to the money, they now have 20 new people who have confirmed their support 

for the organization and its mission through a donation.

This highlights the fact that the purpose of an Acquisition Campaign is not to raise 

significant sums of money, but to identify new donors.  This is the first stage of the 
“Acquire, Renew and Upgrade” sequence that will eventually move these initial donors 

up the ladder to “Major Donor” status.

Creating An Acquisition Campaign

Acquisition Campaigns are designed to recruit people who are unfamiliar or 

only slightly familiar with your organization.  As previously mentioned, the 
realistic return on this type of campaign is 2%, but only when it is executed 

properly.  To do so, you should follow the following steps:
1. Obtain an appropriate mailing list:

Acquisition Campaigns hinge on the quality of their mailing lists.

Although the people on these lists will be strangers, they should be 
individuals who are interested in what you do.  In order to locate these 

people, you need to utilize all available resources, starting with your 
board, staff, volunteers and current donors.  Most people 
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underestimate their own personal networks; therefore, a useful 
exercise is to have your board, staff and/or volunteers each write down 

names and addresses of ten people that they know who might be 
interested in making a small donation to your organization.  This will 

quickly generate a list of a few hundred names.

After that, you must use your creativity to develop other sources.

These may include lists of golf club members, tournament participants, 
magazine subscribers, or PGA professionals.  Although the quality of 

the names is important, your main concern should be quantity when 
creating the first list.

If you discover that you are unable to identify enough names, you can 
look into trading lists with other organizations.  There may be another 

non-profit golf organization in your area that is also looking for names, 
and by partnering, you can quickly double your distribution.  The 
obvious downside is that you will eventually be competing with that 

other non-profit for donations, so the 2% success rate will decrease.
As a last resort, you can also consider purchasing mailing lists from 

other organizations, which usually cost between $100 and $150 per 
thousand names. 

2. Writing the letter:
People today are extremely busy and often do not have the time to sift 

through an unorganized letter to find out why they should give money 
to an organization.  Your letter should therefore deliver your message 
effectively and efficiently.  To do so, you must first recognize that 

people read a solicitation in a unique way.  First, they read the 
introductory paragraph, then the last paragraph, and then the post 

script.  Because of this, you need to ensure that you are very 
convincing in these three areas.

In the first paragraph, your goal should be to immediately grab the 
reader’s attention by telling a story. This can focus on one of your 

participants, or on a situation that you are working to change.  For 
example:

“As a passionate golfer, you know that the game is special.  Unlike many other 
sports, golf’s unique rules and etiquette make it a valuable teacher of important
values, including honesty, integrity and sportsmanship, that can positively impact the 

lives of all who play it, especially children.  However, as a Massachusetts resident, 
you also recognize that there are disadvantaged youth from communities across the 
state whose financial situations prevent them from being exposed to this great game.

We at the MGA share your concern, and through our ForeKids program, are taking 
radical steps to ensure that golf is a game for all people.”

In the body of the letter, you should then talk about your history and 
describe some of the actions you are taking to accomplish your 
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mission.  Feel free to use bullet points to break up the text to make it 
more visually appealing.

In the last paragraph, you should clearly state a specific action that you 

wish the reader to take and should include explicit dollar amounts.
Remember, this may be your last chance to get a donation before the 
letter ends up in the trash, so make the most of it.  Don’t be afraid to 

use forceful language, such as:

“Please send us a gift of $25, $50, $75, $100, or whatever you can afford.  Use the 

enclosed envelope and do it today, as the golf season is quickly approaching.  By 
supporting ForeKids, you are not only ensuring the future of golf in Massachusetts,

you are also enabling thousands of youth to learn the many important lessons that the 
game can teach us all.”

Finally, do not ignore the post script, as many readers’ eyes are 
instinctively drawn to it.  It is another opportunity to point out what

makes your organization worthy of a donation and to convey a sense 
of urgency:

P.S.  Your dollars will allow thousands of disadvantaged youth to become better 
citizens as well as better golfers.  Send in your gift today!

Feel free to use the text in this section as a model for your own 
acquisition mailing. Other resources that you can use as models are 
solicitations that you receive from non-profit organizations.  Rather 

than throwing them out, take the time to analyze which aspects of 
these letters convince you to give.  You can then easily incorporate 

these elements into your own fundraising letter.

3. The reply device:

This is the name for the reply card on which your donor will indicate
how much he or she is giving.  The keys to this part of the solicitation 

are that it is small enough to fit into the return envelope, and that it 
allows the donor to choose a specific amount to give. Also, the 
language on the reply device should encourage your donor to make a 

proactive commitment to your organization.  For example:

? YES!  I want to join the effort to make golf more affordable and accessible.
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As for the specific gift amounts on the reply card, you should
recognize that most people will choose the second number listed; 

therefore, this amount should match the average gift that you are 
hoping to receive.  This can be presented as follows:

Please accept my gift of:

? $25 ? $50 ? $75 ? $100 ?  Other

The reply device should also include instructions for the method of 
payment.  Ideally, you should try to give your donors as many 
payment options as possible, including credit cards.

4. The return envelope:

The most important aspect of this envelope is that it is already 
addressed to your organization.  If you do not take the time to print out 
your address, your response rate will decrease significantly. Note that 

stamping the envelope is generally not worth the cost.  If a donor feels 
compelled to give to an Acquisition Campaign, he or she won’t mind 

affixing a stamp.

5. Other enclosures:

Many organizations wonder if they should include a newsletter or 
some other information piece with the solicitation.  Generally, 

however, these additional documents tend to take the reader’s focus 
away from the letter itself, which could actually decrease your 
response rate.  The objective of an acquisition letter is to immediately 

grab the prospect’s attention and to convince him or her to give a 
relatively small donation.  A well-written letter is sufficient to do this.

Prior to sending out the letter, reply device and return envelope, be 
sure to have your staff proofread it several times, as typos can cause 

donors to doubt the competency of your organization.  Also, determine 
if all three components can be further enhanced by adding logos or 

even a mission statement.  Realize that, although you want to be 
concise and to the point, the Acquisition Campaign documents must 
give sufficient information about who you are and what you do.

As for postage, the U.S. Postal Service offers discounted rates for non-

profit organizations.  Utilizing this option will significantly decrease 
the cost of your acquisition mailing, so be sure to contact your local 
post office or visit www.usps.com for details.
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Mailing Timetable

This guide recommends that you send two mailings in a year to the people on 
your Acquisition Campaign mailing list.  The first should take place at the 

beginning of the golf season, which obviously varies depending on your 
geographic location. The first letter will be designed as outlined above, and 

should serve to introduce people to your organization and convince them to 
give.

The second mailing should take place two months after the first and should be 
sent to those people on your list who have not yet sent a gift.  This is basically

a reminder letter that serves to keep your organization in the minds of your 
prospects and to increase the likelihood that they will make a donation.

Although each letter will differ in how it presents information, they will both 
carry the same message that your organization is playing a vital role in your 

community and that it is worthy of assistance.

After Receiving the Gifts

First, if the donor paid by check, you should photocopy the check and cash it 

as soon as possible.  You should then immediately enter all of the donor’s
information into your donor database (specifics on this database will be 
covered in a later chapter).  Finally, you should write a thank-you note within 

three days of receiving the gift.  This note should ideally serve as a receipt for 
the gift, include hand-written components, and at a minimum should be signed 

either by your President or Executive Director.  The text should specifically 
note the amount that was given and briefly describe how it will be used.
Although it only takes a few minutes to write a thank you note, not sending 

one can be a “deal breaker” for future gifts. This is even more significant 
when you consider that the main goal of an Acquisition Campaign is to bring 

in new donors in order to cultivate relationships with them and move them up 
the Fundraising Ladder.

Finally, you want to evaluate your Acquisition Campaign two months after 
sending the second letter.  This evaluation should measure the following:

• Total number of donors

• Response rate (number of gifts ÷ number of letters mailed)

•   Average gift amount (total amount raised ÷ number of gifts)

• Total amount raised

You should compare these results with any estimations that you made at the 

start of the campaign.  If there are major differences, and especially if your 
response rate is well below 2%, you may want to look at the quality of your 
mailing list and the content of your solicitation letter to see if anything can be 

improved.
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Final Thoughts…

The ultimate measure of an Acquisition Mailing is how many new donors it 

brings to your organization and, over time, how many of these donors can be 
upgraded to mid- level or major donors. As you look ahead to the future, 
realize that some of the people that you meet through this campaign might 

become valuable board members or volunteers. Use this as motivation to 
cultivate relationships with these individuals by periodically mailing them a 

newsletter, inviting them to events, or asking them to volunteer.  People will 
give more as they feel a deeper connection with an organization.  Now that 
you’ve acquired these donors, it’s time to move them up the ladder.

The Gift Club

If you are a USGA member, you are already familiar with the Gift Club concept.  With a 
Gift Club, individual donors have the option of donating at various levels, and each level 
carries with it a certain list of benefits  In the USGA Members Program, for example, if 

you give $50, you are classified as a “Champion Club” Member, while $100 gets you 
“Eagle Club” status.  The different levels correspond to different benefits ranging from 

bag tags to a hardcover annual of the U.S. Open.

Gift Clubs are a step higher on the Fundraising Pyramid, which means that they will 

generally involve larger average gift amounts and a fewer number of solicitations.  They 
will also target a different segment of donors, specifically people who have either:

1. Donated to a previous Acquisition Campaign or some other low-level giving 
initiative.

2. Volunteered for your organization or have some other connection that might 

result in a willingness to give at a slightly higher level than the Acquisition 
Campaign.

The people that you will get enrolled into a Gift Club already know who you are and 
what you do; therefore, they are willing to make a greater financial commitment to your 

organization.  They may not, however, have either the means or the willingness to 
venture into “Major Donor” status. 
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Creating a Gift Club

Like the Acquisition Campaign, the vehicle for the Gift Club is Direct Mail.
Now that you are familiar with the fundamentals of Direct Mail, it should be 

fairly easy to adapt the concept for this other campaign.  Specifically you will:
1. Create your mailing list:

Include everyone who has previously donated as well as people who 
have a significant connection to your organization (volunteers, 
previous staff/board members, instructors, etc.).

2. Write the letter:

The theme for this letter will be very similar to the Acquisition 
Campaign, only differing in that it emphasizes what you have been 
able to accomplish with prior donations from the people you are trying 

to upgrade into the Gift Club.  For example:

Because of your help, we were able to accomplish the following goals in 2003:

• Increase enrollment to 3,000 youths, up from 2,500 in 2002.

• Add two new programming sites in Springfield and Andover.

• Develop a six-week instructional program for golfers with disabilities.

In addition to talking about what you’ve already done, you should 
discuss why you need people to join the gift club, and what you will 

do with their money.  You should also follow the Acquisition Mailing 
template for the last paragraph and post-script of the letter.

3. The Reply Device
This will differ from the Acquisition Mailing, as you are asking for 

different levels of giving. You should use the reply device to define 
the different donation levels and describe the benefits associated with 

each.  For example:

YES!  I would like to join the AJGG at the level of:

? PAR Sponsor ($100) ? BIRDIE Sponsor ($250) ? EAGLE Sponsor ($500
Includes: Bag Tag Includes: Bag Tag Includes: Bag Tag 

AJGG Towel AJGG Towel
AJGG Shirt

No, I am unable to join the AJGG at this time.  However, please accept my donation of: $ ______.

As for the specific “giveaways” that accompany each membership 

level, you should be creative in determining what you can distribute 
that is both inexpensive but at the same time clearly identifies the 

individual as a supporter of your organization.  People will not become 
Gift Club members solely because of the benefits; however, most will 
want a physical representation of their gift, which will also serve as a 

constant reminder of their affiliation with your organization. This
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reminder will increase the likelihood that they will renew their gift in 
the future.

4. The return envelope:

This should definitely be self-addressed.  Also, because you are seeking 
higher amounts of money per donor and sending out fewer solicitations, 
you should consider stamping the envelope.

5. Other enclosures:

As with the Acquisition Campaign, it is best not to draw the prospects’
attention away from the letter with superfluous information; however, 
because you are offering various benefits along with Gift Club 

memberships, you should include pictures of the bag tags, towels, shirts 
or other items that donors will receive.

Again, proofread all of the Gift Club components carefully for typos and 
to ensure that your writing is clear and concise.  Since all of the 

prospects for the Gift Club campaign are familiar with your 
organization, it is in your best interests to include photos on the 

solicitation.  Pictures of your facility and the kids in your programs will 
remind the prospects of why they became involved with you in the first 
place, and why they should continue to give money.

Timetable

Prior to actually mailing out the letter, you should ensure that all of the 
merchandise for your different levels is ordered.  Don’t be afraid of ordering too 

much, as surplus can be sold at special events, used for prizes for participants, or 
given as gifts to volunteers.

Like the Acquisition Campaign, the Gift Club Campaign should be kicked off at 
the start of the golf season with the mailing of the initial letter.  Two months later, 

you should follow this letter up with a phone call from a staff member to those 
people who have not yet donated. This phone conversation should be short and to 

the point.  Simply ask if they received your letter, if they’d like to join at one of 
the levels, and if not, if they’d like to make a donation of some other amount.  The 
fact that you are requesting more money from fewer people justifies this 

approach, and making the effort to speak to your prospects will significantly 
increase your success rate.

After Receiving the Donations

Thanking these donors is extremely important so that they know that their gift 
was appreciated.  This should be done ideally with a handwritten letter from your 

Executive Director or President.  If your organization has the staffing resources 
available, you should also consider thanking each donor, and especially those 
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donors in the highest gift category, by phone.  Any of the “giveaways” should be 
sent out promptly with the thank you letter.

As with the Acquisition Campaign, you should keep track of relevant statistics, 

including response rate, gross total donated, net total donated (gross total –
expenses) and the level at which most people joined.

Final Thoughts

Although a Gift Club Campaign is similar to an Acquisition Campaign in that
both use Direct Mail, Gift Clubs require more work from your staff and board; 

however, when you compare the response rates for the two fundraising methods, 
the extra work is justified.  As previously mentioned, an Acquisition Campaign
typically has a maximum response rate of 2%, while Gift Clubs, which are 

technically renewals of previous donations, can achieve up to a 66% response rate
(especially if you follow up mail solicitation with a phone call).  This stems from 

the fact that your mailing list for a Gift Club consists of people who are familiar 
with your organization and have already decided that it is worthy of their support.

When we extrapolate numbers for the Gift Club Campaign, it is easy to see how 
this method can generate serious revenue.  Let’s assume that you have a Gift Club 

mailing list of 100 people, and that the average gift in the second tier, which is
$250:

Income:

50 people x 66% = 33 responses

33 responses x $250 average gift = $8,250

Expenses:

100 letters x $1.00 per letter = $ 100

Giveaway costs = $1,000

Net Profit:

$8,250 raised - $1,100 Expenses = $7,150

While $7,000 may not fund your budget for an entire year, it is still a considerable 
amount of money, especially for a campaign that reaches “Middle Donors”.

When you combine this with Special Events and gifts from Major Donors, which 
are covered later in this guide, you are on your way to developing the fundraising 

arsenal required to meet all of your goals.
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Special Events

Special Events, or “benefits,” are one of the most commonly used fundraising tools, 
especially for small non-profit organizations.  For USGA-supported golf programs, the 

most common Special Event is the golf tournament; however, many organizations have a 
tendency to over-estimate how much money these events can bring in, and end up falling 

short of their fundraising goals.  In order to effectively use Special Events in your Annual 
Fund, you must first recognize that they are not the most efficient way to raise cash.  In 
fact, the main goals of Special Events are to:

1. Increase the visibility of your organization in your community.
2. Connect with current donors and to move them up the fundraising ladder.

3. Bring in new donors who were previously unaware of your organization.

The fourth (and least realistic ) goal is to generate large amounts of cash.

As was the case with Acquisition Campaigns, you may be wondering if Special Events 

are worth the hassle.  The answer is a resounding “yes,” as these events are the most 
effective way to cultivate a donor’s connection with your organization.  This will result in 
people renewing and upgrading their gifts, or in some cases, making an initial donation 

that will lead the donor up the Fundraising Ladder.

Planning Special Events

The amount of effort you put into planning a Special Event relates directly to how 

successful it will be, both in terms of generating exposure and raising money.
Numerous details go into planning these events, and even the smallest oversight 

can result in disaster; therefore, you must be careful to budget sufficient time and 
people to the event for it to be a success.

The first step in the planning process is to create a Committee whose sole purpose
is organizing and running the event.  While this Committee should be headed by a 

member of your Board of Directors, the other slots can be filled by other
volunteers.  The key requirements are the ability to commit a significant amount 
of time to the project as well as careful attention to detail.  Ideally, you should 

include a volunteer who may have experience planning or working a Special 
Event for another non-profit organization. 

Once this Committee is formed, its first order of business is to create a task list.
This list should include every detail of the event from mailing out the invites to 

arranging the caterer to ordering the table centerpieces.  It should be ordered in a 
table as follows:
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Task Target Completion 

Date

Manager Actual Completion 

Date

Book golf course. April 15 Judy April 12

Print invitations. May 1 Steve May 1

Secure silent 
auction items.

May 3 Jess May 1

Managers of the individual tasks can be recruited from the staff, the board and 

your volunteer database.  In assigning tasks, it is important to evenly distribute the 
workload as well as assign people to tasks that relate to their areas of expertise.

Once the task list is completed, it should be arranged in chronological order to 
serve as an event timeline.

After creating the task list, the Committee should create a budget for the event.
This budget should include an income statement, which lists all of the different 

ways that the event will bring in money, along with an expenses statement.  This 
budget can be used as a guide throughout the planning process, and will be a 
valuable tool after the event is completed to determine how accurate your 

estimates were.

Who to Invite

While the invitation list will depend on the type of event you are running and how 
exclusive it is, a generic list should include:

1. Anyone who has given money to your organization in the past two years.

2. Your staff.
3. Your volunteers.

4. Local businesses, especially those connected to your board members.
5. Local media.

People will come to your event because they like your organization, they like your 
event, or (hopefully), because of both reasons.  Businesses, especially those that 

want to increase or maintain their presence within the community, will be 
interested in attending, especially since their contributions to your event are tax 
deductible.

How to Generate Money at Special Events

Generally, it is a good idea to provide people with as many ways possible to give 

you money at the event.  This means that, in addition to selling tickets, you should 
hold a silent auction or a raffle, create an ad-book, sell program sponsorships, or 
create some other option that will capitalize on people’s willingness to give. For

golf tournaments, these options can include hole sponsorships, long drive 
challenges or “closest to the hole” competitions.
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How ready your attendees are to whip out their checkbooks at the event depends 

directly on how much effort you put into marketing your organization.  These 
events are your chance to shine, and if anything, your attendees should be 

overwhelmed by the amount of information you give to them about who you are 
and what you do, whether it is through pamphlets placed at dinner tables, 
speeches from staff and board members, or the creation of an engaging event 

program.  One of the most effective ways to tug on people’s heartstrings, and 
something that is recommended for nearly all special events, is to directly involve 

the participants in your programs.  There is nothing more impactful than a speech 
from a child explaining how your program has improved his or her life.  It is this 
opportunity to directly show an event attendee who his money is helping that will 

cause people to either become a regular donor or to upgrade a previous 
contribution.

Other Effective Special Events

The number of different events that you can run is only limited by your creativity
and willingness to work.  Other than golf tournaments, you should consider 

hosting:

• Golf Marathons

• Professional Golf Instruction Sessions

• House Parties

• Annual Banquets

• Raffles

• Garage Sales

• Pancake Breakfasts

• Barbeques

• Wine Tastings

Although these events are very different, all have the potential to both increase 

your visibility and generate revenue.  Regardless of which events you choose to 
host, you should pay attention to the fundamental principles covered in this 

section throughout the process of planning and executing the event.

Following the Event

Your first action should be to write thank-you notes to all attendees, especially 

those who may have purchased silent auction items or made significant donations 
in addition to purchasing tickets.  You should also add any new donors to your 

Gift Club mailing list, as well as re-classify any Middle Donors who may have 
given contributions that could make them prospective Major Donors.

The Event Committee should then look at your task lists and your budget to see 
where you may have underestimated or overestimated your success.  Because of 
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the immense amount of detail that goes into planning these events, many things 
can and do go wrong.  Making the effort to recognize and learn from your 

mistakes will allow you to improve your events year after year.

It should be your organization’s goal to run two Special Events each year.  The 
first should be a large event, such as a golf tournament or dinner, which has the 
main goal of increasing your visibility and bringing in new donors.  The second 

event should be smaller and more intimate, such as a house party or cocktail 
reception, which should be reserved for your board members, executive staff and 

other major donors.

Major Gifts

The final (and most important) element of your Annual Fund is a Major Gifts Campaign.

Although the “Major Gift” classification depends on the size of your organization, we 
will consider it a gift of $1,000 and up for the purposes of this Guide.  The importance of 

Major Gifts is illustrated by the fact that, for most non-profits, 60% of their donations are 
given by 10% of their donors.  Also, 50% of people who are asked for Major Gifts make 
a contribution.

These donors are at the top of the fundraising pyramid, and represent people who are both 

passionate about what you do and have the means to support it at a high level; however, 
they will not give you money unless you build up the courage to ask them to do so.
Adequately preparing for this “ask” will make it both easier and ultimately more 

effective; therefore, you should follow these steps for your Major Gifts campaign:
1. Start with your Board.

Major Gift campaigns depend almost entirely on the strength of your 
board, and specifically on how aware board members are that their two 
primary responsibilities are to give money and to ask for money.  At the 

start of your campaign, each member should make a reasonable donation 
that is, at a minimum, enough to place him or her into the Major Donor 

category (in our case, $1,000). The first person to give should be your 
Chairman, who should then verbally encourage all other members to do
so.  The actual amount of these gifts should reasonably reflect each 

individual member’s financial capacity.

2. Set a goal for the total number of donors and create a prospect list.
This goal should keep in mind that only 50% of the people asked will 
actually make a donation.  For example, if it is determined that every 

member needs to successfully recruit five Major Donors, each Board
member should make a list of ten friends, business associates, other 

volunteers or current Middle Donors who may have the capacity to 
upgrade.
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3. Do your homework on each prospective donor.
Before actually asking for money, you should look at various clues to

determine a realistic gift amount for the prospect.  These can include their
giving history, financial capacity and overall commitment to your 

organization.

Once you determine the size of the gift that this person will potentially 

make, you should add 50%, as approximately half of the people who give 
Major Gifts will give less than expected.  By adding 50% onto your “ask”,

you are increasing the likelihood that your total gift estimates will be 
accurate.

This tactic also relates to what I term the “Swallow Your Gum” theory of 
asking for major gifts.  Basically, if you ask someone for a specific 

amount of money and they don’t “swallow their gum” out of surprise, that 
means that you probably didn’t ask for enough.  While you should always 
be realistic in how much you ask for, you shouldn’t worry about offending 

someone by asking for too much.  On the contrary, many people at the 
Major Donor level can be put off if you don’t ask them for enough.  By 

“low-balling” a Major Donor, you are implying that they don’t have the 
capacity to give at a certain level, which could be offensive to them, 
especially if they know that their friends or associates have been asked to 

give more.

4. Make initial contact.
The board member who will be doing the asking should make a phone call
to the prospect in order to set up a meeting.  During the phone 

conversation, the board member should be up front about his intentions of 
providing information about the organization and asking for a donation.

Do not set up a meeting under false pretenses and then try to ambush the 
prospect with a solicitation, as this could seem underhanded.  If the 
prospect turns down the meeting, you should graciously thank him or her

for his or her support and express that you hope to see them at a future 
Special Event or other function.

5. Make the ask.
Now that you have prepared, you are ready to ask for money.

When making an ask, you should give a brief and informal presentation 
about the current activities of the organization, highlighting its annual 

financial needs.  You should be prepared to answer any questions asked by 
the prospect, and should particularly know how his or her donation will be 
used.

Finally, you should directly ask for the specific amount of money that you

determined was appropriate in Step 3.  Do not dance around the issue, and 
absolutely do not ask a prospect for “whatever he or she can afford to 
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give,” which will undoubtedly decrease the gift amount.  If you are able to 
display the confidence you’ve gained by representing a worthy 

organization as well as preparing for the solicitation, your prospect will 
sense this and will have the assurance to honor your request.

You should mention that you realize you are asking for a significant 
amount of money, and that you’d like the individual to think it over for at 

least 24 hours.  Set up a time to call the prospect back (not the other way 
around) the next day to follow up on the request.

6. Call the prospect back for their answer.
Again, be direct and to the point as to the reason for your call.  If the 

prospect agrees to make a gift, thank him or her wholeheartedly, and 
arrange a specific date on which to collect the money.

If they say no, thank him or her for considering, and express your hope 
that you can count on his or her future support.

Following Up
The size of a major gift warrants both a handwritten thank you note as well as a 
phone call from the president of your board.  You should also immediately place 
the donor on mailing lists for your newsletter, as well as invite lists for all Special 

Events.

This process illustrates that, in order for someone to make a major gift, you need 
to make a personal connection with them.  While this is initially accomplished by 
a single board member, it should be cultivated by staff and other board members.

Make the effort to seek these individuals out at Special Events to let them know 
that you appreciate their support, and if the fit is right, you should consider 

inviting them to join your board.

Finally, remember the Fundraising Mantra: Acquire, Renew and Upgrade.  Now 

that you have acquired your Major Donors, you need to make sure to renew them 
the following year and upgrade their gift to a higher amount.  This will only be 

accomplished by continuing your personal relationship with them and showing
them that their gift was appreciated and put to good use. 
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Is it Worth the Effort?

Obviously, acquiring Major Gifts takes a lot of work, especially from the 
members of your board; however, when you look at how much money Major 

Gifts can generate, this effort is justified.  Assuming you have 15 board members 
who each make a $2,000 gift, and each member recruits five Major Donors who 

give a $1,000 gift:

Income:

15 Board Members x $2,000 Average Gift = $ 30,000

15 Board Members x 5 Major Donors/Member x $1,500 Average Gift = $112,500

Net Profit:
$30,000 + $112,500 = $142,500

As you can see, this is where you generate some serious money.  And what about 

expenses?  Because the Major Gifts are given from one person (the donor) to 
another person (the board member), there generally aren’t any. Everything you 
raise is profit.

Annual Fund Final Thoughts…

Once you create strategies and estimates for your Acquisition Campaign, Gift Club, 
Special Events and Major Gifts, you should re-visit your Case Statement and include 

brief blurbs about each for the “Fundraising Plan” section.  Be sure to focus on the target 
amount you will raise with each component.

The key behind the Annual Fund strategy presented in this guide is diversity of funding 
sources.  Many organizations attempt to base their entire annual fundraising strategy on 

one Special Event or one Acquisition Campaign; however, they quickly learn that this 
can lead to disaster if their expectations for these fundraising vehicles are not met.

If you follow this guide and utilize the four aforementioned Annual Fund components, 
you will generate a fundraising revenue stream that will be fairly constant year after year.

Even if a Special Event doesn’t generate as much money as expected, or you lose a few 
Major Donors, the other components of your Annual Fund will bail you out and bring in 

enough revenue to enable you to serve your constituents.
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Grants

Grants play a specific role in your fundraising portfolio and, as we have seen at the 
USGA Foundation, they are often misunderstood.  Many people believe that they can 

apply for grants year after year to support their programs; however, the main purpose of a 
grant is to fund either a new program or project or expand a current program or project

for a finite amount of time.  The foundations want to make a contribution usually over a 
period of one to three years, but then expect you to support the program or project on
your own.  For this reason, you must take the time to develop a comprehensive 

fundraising strategy to prove that you have the realistic means to continue the programs 
or projects in perpetuity without further assistance from the foundation.

It is also important to realize that foundations and other grant making organizations are 
making an investment in your organization, and are not simply giving you a gift.

Foundations are set up to give money only to those organizations whose missions align 
with their own; therefore, you need to show the foundation that you are both reaching the

same demographic, and that you have the staff, volunteers, financial systems and 
fundraising structure in place to best convert their money into goods and services for the 
individuals that you serve.  The vehicle you use to demonstrate this ability is the grant 

application.

Writing Grant Applications

Creating a grant application can be a difficult and time consuming process; however, if 

you’ve taken the time to develop a detailed Case Statement and follow these steps, it will 
be much easier:

1. Research the foundation.
Prior to even considering applying for a grant, you should look closely 
at the mission and structure of the foundation.  Specifically, you 

should examine its giving history for the types of organizations and 
programs it has funded in the past as well as the amounts of the grants 

that it has given.  Check its website or promotional materials to see if 
it publishes funding philosophies and guidelines, and to see if you 
these criteria.  Additionally, you should determine the dates when the 

applications are due as well as for when the grants are awarded.

2. Contact the foundation by phone.
Even if your research leads you to believe that you would be a good fit 
for a grant, you should still make the effort to call a member of the 

foundation’s staff.  In this conversation, you can provide some 
information about your organization and get a general sense of how 

likely you are to receive funding, and for what items in your budget 
you should request money.  Often times, foundations may cut back 
their funding during certain lean periods, and a staff member will be 

able to tell you this before you go through all the work of preparing an 
application.
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I must emphasize that if a foundation staff or board member tells you 

that you do not fit their funding guidelines, do not submit an 
application.  Many non-profit organizations are under the impression 

that their application will cause the foundation to change its funding 
philosophies, which is rarely the case.  Instead, focus your energy on 
finding a different foundation that is a better fit.

3. Use your Case Statement to answer the application questions.

Since you have gone through the trouble of developing the Case
Statement, you should use it to outline the programs and projects for 
which you are requesting funding.  Be sure to answer all of the 

questions in as much detail as possible (while still being concise and 
staying within any guidelines for length), and include as many 

quantitative references as you can (i.e. number of participants, number 
of pros, hours of instruction, etc.).  Do not leave any questions blank.
If you don’t know how to answer something, contact the foundation’s 

staff.

4. Focus on the budget.
Because you are asking a foundation to make a financial investment in 
your organization, they are going to pay close detail to your budget to 

determine how their money will fit into your overall financial picture.
The budget should show a list of income (money you take in through 

fundraising and other means) and expenses (what you spend your
money on).  The income and expenses should include data for the two 
years prior to the year in which you are applying.  Additionally, you 

should try to project two years into the future and estimate what your 
income and expenses will be for those years.

If you plan to break even (i.e. your total income is the same as your 
total expenses) for a year, you should show this on your budget.

Foundations may look negatively on surpluses, which will make them 
wonder why you need them in the first place, and deficits, which will 

cause them to question your financial viability.

Foundations realize that many non-profit staff members do not have 

accounting experience and may struggle with a budget; however, they
will not accept this as an excuse.  If you want to get a grant, you must 

present an accurate picture of your financial past, present and future.
If you can’t do the budget, you need to find another staff member or 
volunteer who can.
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5. Determine an appropriate amount of funding to request and which 
items to request it for.

Again, you should look at the foundation’s giving history to determine 
its average gift amount and make a request that is close to that number.

Also realize that most foundations will not fund 100% of a program or 
project, as they want to see that you will be capable of supporting it in 
on your own in the future.

The majority of foundations will not give money for “general operating 

expenses”; therefore, you must specify which expenses you will use 
their money for.  In order to maximize your award, you should restrict 
your request to the items that the foundation typically funds.  For 

example, the USGA Foundation will typically fund golf course access 
but won’t typically fund food and beverage.  You should consult the 

funding philosophies and guidelines, or contact a foundation staff 
member, to determine which items are appropriate.

6. Show an exit strategy.
Foundations want to see that you have the ability to support the 

program or project after the grant period expires; therefore, you should 
have a solid Fundraising Plan in place that projects at least two years 
after the grant expires.  If you are applying for a multi-year grant, the 

percentage of your budget that the grant funds comprise should 
decrease in subsequent years.

7. Make sure that your application is complete and submitted on time.
Some foundations will simply throw out applications that are received 

after the submission deadline or are incomplete.  At a minimum, it 
may cause foundation officials to question your competency as a

potential steward of their money.  Pay attention to deadlines and 
proofread your application carefully.

8. Call the foundation to make sure that the application has been received 
and that it is complete.

This step will show that you are conscientious and may save your 
application if you inadvertently left something out.

You will notice that, throughout the process of creating your application, you should be 
in consistent contact with foundation staff members.  This reflects the fact that, although

foundations are institutional donors, they will be more comfortable making a grant to an 
organization that has a “local champion” in place to ensure that the money is used 
correctly and effectively.  Like all fundraising, success in being awarded grants depends 

on your ability to build a personal relationship with your donor, which, in this case, is a
foundation.

Page 196



36

After Receiving the Grant
Although the hard part of writing the application is over once you receive funding, your 

job is not complete. If you are awarded a grant, you will most likely be mailed an award 
letter informing you how much money you’ve received, what items it is restricted to, and 

for how long you can spend the money (the grant period). Keep this information in mind 
throughout the grant period, and if you have any questions, contact the foundation staff 
immediately.  Many organizations run into problems when they either misspend a

foundation’s money or use it outside of the grant period, which, in some cases, can result
in the need to return some or all of the granted funds.  To avoid this, you should speak 

with foundation staff if you believe that your actions might fall outside of the grant 
guidelines.  Many foundations have processes by which you can extend the grant period 
or change how the money can be used; however, these options are usually only available 

if you inform the foundation of the change on the front end, and not after you have 
already misspent their money.

Most foundations will also require you to submit a report at the end of your grant period 
that details how you spent the money and what impact it had on your program. Some

foundations have a specific form to use for the report, while others leave the actual 
outline up to the grant recipient.  Regardless, you should be prepared to account to the 

penny for how the grant was spent in as specific terms as possible.  You should also pay 
attention to the due date of this report and mark it on your calendar so that it is not 
overlooked when you are deep into your programming season.

Much of the follow-up work after receiving the grant serves to keep your organization in 

good standing with the foundation and to prove that you were a worthy investment of 
their money. Foundations will look closely at the quality and timeliness of your 
reporting, as well as your interaction with staff, when considering you for future grants; 

therefore, you should make every effort to maintain a positive relationship with the 
foundation, especially if you are planning to re-apply for additional grants.
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Capital Campaigns

Capital Campaigns are fundraising efforts that take place over a specified time period and 

that generate money specifically for the purchase or renovation of capital, or man-made
resources such as buildings, golf courses and office equipment. Capital Campaigns are a 
fairly advanced fundraising method, as they require for you to tap your existing donor 

base to make larger-than-normal donations either on a one-time basis or as a pledge over 
three to five years. This makes Capital Campaigns rarely succesful unless you’ve 

developed a large and diversified base of major donors who are very committed to your 
organization.

Because of their complexity as well as the large amount of money that they will 
hopefully raise, capital campaigns may require that you hire a fundraising consultant, or 

at a minimum have a board or staff member who has experience with this type of 
fundraising.  The investment into hiring a consultant or experienced staff member will 
pay off by enabling you to reach your fundraising goals in the expected timeframe.

Organizing a Capital Campaign

The first step in developing a Capital Campaign is to ensure that the campaign and its 

goals fit with what direction you have defined for your organization through the Case 
Statement.  Second, you should create a mini-Case Statement for the project that explains 
why you need it and how it will allow your organization to better serve your target 

population, as well as outlines how much it will cost.  This mini-Case Statement should 
be prepared by a Capital Campaign Committee and distributed to all members of the 
Executive Board. I should ideally include a feasibility study that supports the 

committee’s findings. The board should then vote to approve the Capital Campaign
before you start to solicit donations.

Next, your board should determine how much money you need to raise on an annual 
basis in order for the project to be completed. This is most efficiently done using a “Gift 

Range Chart” that displays the number of gifts and gift amounts, such as is illustrated 
below for a $100,000 Capital Campaign:

Number of Gifts Gift Amount Total

1 $20,000 $20,000

2 $15,000 $30,000

5 $10,000 $50,000

Generally, the Gift Range Chart will follow the pattern of one gift representing 15-20%

of the total, two gifts at 10% each, and four to five gifts at 5% each.  Any remaining 
money that needs to be raised will come from a number of smaller donations.

The process of organizing a Capital Campaign is very intensive, and if done properly and 
diligently, will take between four and 12 months.
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Getting Lead Gifts

Once you create your Gift Range Chart, you must then identify individuals and 

organizations that will be willing to make a “Lead Gift” toward the campaign. Not
surprisingly, this list should start with your Board of Directors, who must give at least 

10% and up to 40% of your goal.  Next, you should look outside of your board to other 
committee members, major donors or foundations that are set up to give grants as lead 
gifts.  Once you obtain enough lead gifts to reach 50% of your goal amount, you can then 

announce the beginning of the Capital Campaign.  Delaying this announcement will 
increase your probability of success in reaching your goal, as people will be more willing

to give once they see that you have already generated support for the project.

Reaching Your Goal

After announcing your Capital Campaign, you should begin to identify prospects.  Your 

prospect list should include all current major donors.  Additionally, you should poll your 
board to determine if they know anyone who might be willing to make a one-time gift to 
your Capital Campaign.  Many individuals may not be willing to provide annual support 

to a non-profit organization; however, they won’t mind making a substantial gift in 
support of a beneficial capital project.  When preparing your prospect list, you should be 

aware that Capital Campaign solicitations generally have only a 25% success rate; 
therefore, you should identify at least four prospects for every gift that you’ve included 
on your Gift Range Chart.

Once you have a prospect list, you should then follow the steps for soliciting major gifts, 

but obviously have your presentation focus on the capital project and how it will benefit 
your organization.  Since you are requesting a one-time gift, the ask amount should be at 
least double the donor’s yearly gift.  If the Campaign is to take place over a few years, 

you should encourage the prospect to pledge a certain amount over each of those years.
If you do receive multi-year pledges, you must be sure to develop a system to schedule 

the pledge payments and assign staff members to ensure that the pledges are collected.

You should also realize that Special Events are an excellent tool for Capital Campaigns.

Events can be used to kick off a Capital Campaign and get people into the giving spirit, 
can be effective at closing out the Campaign if you have exhausted your Major Donor 

base and still need some smaller donations, or can be held after the Campaign has been 
completed as a celebration of your success and a “thank you” to the many donors and 
volunteers who worked hard on the Campaign..
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Planned Giving

Planned Giving represents the most advanced type of fundraising covered in this Guide,

as it involves donors agreeing to make gifts over an extended time period either while 
they are alive or after they have passed away.  Because of the scope of this commitment, 
Planned Gifts will usually only be made by donors who have given to you over a period

of many years and have developed the confidence that your organization will continue to 
serve its mission in the future.

Many types of Planned Gifts, like annuities and trusts, are legal relationships that must be 
established between you and your donor through an attorney.  They are not covered in 

this Guide because of their complexity; however, if you believe that your organization’s 
fundraising efforts are advanced enough to warrant their pursuit, you should speak with a 

lawyer and consider attending a fundraising seminar that deals specifically with Planned 
Gifts.

Bequests, on the other hand, can be fairly simple and effective for your organization, but 
only if you have developed a mature major donor base.  A bequest is basically a gift that 

someone makes as part of their will.  Surprisingly, 75% of people die without a will, and 
are therefore unable to direct how their assets are allocated after their death. By
encouraging your major donors to include your organization in their will, you can provide

benefits to both your non-profit and your donor.

The actual language of a bequest is fairly straightforward, and can be worded as follows:

“I give and bequeath to (name and address of your organization) the sum of $______ (or property or 

another asset) to be used as the board of directors sees fit.”

This statement can be either part of a new will or can be added as a “codicil” to an 

existing will.

As you will notice, the statement allows people to donate money or some other type of 
asset.  When speaking to your donors about bequests, you should also evaluate what other 
forms of assets you are willing and able to accept as donations.  For example, if a donor 

leaves you a car, do you have the knowledge or means to either convert that car to cash or
use it for your programs?  The same applies to buildings, land, stock or any other 

potential gift.  It is therefore important to specify on the front end if you will accept cash 
bequests or bequests that may include non-cash components of a donor’s estate.

A Note on Bequests…
If you do decide to pursue bequests from your donors, you should realize that you cannot 

“exert undue influence” on someone who may be either thinking about or currently 
creating a will.  This is a legal guideline that basically means that, while you can 
encourage someone to include you in their will, you cannot be involved in the actual 

creation of the will. It speaks to the fact that a will is a legally binding document, and 
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also reiterates that Planned Giving can be complicated. Again, if you have reservations 
about bequests or other types of planned gifts, you should speak with an attorney.
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Record Keeping

At this point in the Guide, you have learned various methods of introducing people to 

your organization and convincing them to give you money; however, you must realize 
that your ability to retain and upgrade donors is 100% dependent on whether or not 
you’ve taken the time to develop an adequate system to manage donor information.  The 

Fundraising Mantra (Acquire, Renew and Upgrade) is not possible if you can’t quickly 
recognize who your donors are, why they gave to you in the first place, and which donor 

category they are in.  Although you may be motivated to hit the streets and begin putting 
this Guide to work, you must first step back and develop your record keeping system.

Buying a Database
The easiest and most effective way to create a donor database is to purchase one from a 

computer software company.  These programs range in cost from a few hundred dollars 
up to tens of thousands of dollars, and have a varying array of features and customer 
support options.  The keys to purchasing such a program are to first set a budget and then 

begin doing research.  Most programs have a demo disk that will allow you to try out the 
various features of the software, and some offer extensive service options if you run into

any technical problems.  As you do your research, you should constantly try to balance 
what your organization can afford to spend with the features and support that you will 
need.  Remember, if your staff is not computer savvy, they may need to have more 

training and service options than a more computer- literate staff.

Building Your Own Database
If you determine that you do not have the budget to purchase a database program, it is 
fairly easy to build an effective one on your own.  This can be done by customizing a 

general database program, like Microsoft Access, or simply using a paper filing system.
Again, try to gauge how comfortable your staff and board are with computers before you 

decide to go electronic.

Regardless of whether you choose a computer program or a filing system, each method 

should be centered around segmenting your donors into three categories: Base Level 
Donor, Middle Donor and Major Donor. The actual dollar amount that defines each level 

is totally dependent on how you choose to segment your donors (i.e. under $100 is Base
Donor, $100-$999 is $1,000 and up is Major).  All donors within these three tiers should 
be arranged in alphabetical order by last name.

For each donor, you should record the following information:

• Name

• Home/Business Addresses

• Home/Business Phone Numbers

• Gift History – This should include dates the gifts were given and received, how 

they were given (through the Acquisition Campaign, at a Special Event, etc.) and 
how much they were for.

Page 202



42

• Correspondence Log – This should be a log of all contact that you’ve had with 

the donor, such as the dates thank-you notes were sent and the dates of personal 
solicitations.

For current and prospective Major Donors, you should also include:

• Reason for Giving – What they like about your program and why do they support 

your organization?

• Potential Gift Range – What is their giving capacity based on the gifts of other 

donors at similar income levels?

• Relationships with Board/Staff Members – Do they have a personal relationship 

with a board member that might result in a future solicitation opportunity?

• Involvement with Other Non-Profits – Do they serve on other non-profit boards

or support similar organizations?

After creating this database, it will be up to your staff to regularly update it and make 

sure that the information is current.  In order to move people up the Fundraising Ladder, 
you will need to regularly sift through the data on each donor to determine if they might 

be ready to be solicited for an upgrade.

As you are collecting this data, you should realize that it is extremely important to keep 

all donor information confidential.  Since fundraising is ultimately based on trust, you 
will lose donors quickly if you divulge their information without consent.
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Final Thoughts

This guide presents a comprehensive look at what it takes to effectively raise money to 
support a non-profit organization.  In summary, fundraising success is contingent on the 

following factors:

1. Your organization is ready to fundraise.
You have developed a strong board of directors who know that your 
ability to raise money is dependent on their ability to give and solicit 

donations.  You also have a competent and passionate staff in place to 
provide the necessary administrative support for all fundraising initiatives.

2. You have adequately planned for the future.
You have created a detailed Case Statement that outlines the current state 

of your non-profit and where you hope to be in the coming years.  You 
routinely use this case to measure your progress and to hold the board and 

staff accountable for both successes and failures.

3. You have diversified your funding sources.

You recognize that dependence on one donor, foundation or special event 
to provide the majority of your fundraising income could be a recipe for 

disaster.  You therefore combine a variety of funding sources to comprise 
your fundraising portfolio.

4. You understand the importance of the “fundraising mantra.”
You know that acquiring donors is only the first step, and must be 

followed by renewing their donations and upgrading them to higher levels 
in the future.  This requires that you maintain a close relationship with all 
of your donors to make them feel involved with your organization and to 

increase their willingness to provide future support.

By no means does this imply that fundraising is easy.  When done correctly, 
implementing the concepts presented in this guide may take years, and at a minimum will 
stretch your board and staff to work even harder to achieve financial stability. All of this 

work will be justified, however, as you learn that finding a new donor, running a 
successful special event, or being awarded a grant is the ultimate reward for a non-profit

board or staff member.

We at the USGA hope that this guide enables you to tackle fundraising with the same 

passion and enthusiasm that empowers you to make golf and its life lessons affordable 
and accessible to all people.  We wish you the best of luck on your journey toward 

fundraising success!
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INTERNAL FACTOR EVALUATION MATRIX 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Strengths:

Course quality .30 4 

Golf course as prime revenue source .16 2 

No debt .05 4 

Available capacity .02 2 

Arts offerings .10 4 

Pro shop .06 3 

Restaurant .01 3 

Low cost of play .15 4 

Independence-managerial and financial .05 4 

Superintendent/Golf Professional .10 4 

TOTAL 1.00 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Weaknesses:

Unsupported non-golf revenue .05 2 

Current management structure .25 2 

Lack of management direction going forward .20 2 

No long term financial plan/capital needs/low 
revenues

.25 1 

Lack of awareness of non-golf offerings 
(arts/recreation)

.10 2 

Arts/music-parking & building issues .05 2 

Use of technology-website/on-line reservation, etc. .09 2 

Poor non-golf amenities (basketball/tennis/trails) .01 2 

TOTAL 1.00 

Notes: 1. Weights must total 1.00.  
           2. Ratings: 4-Superior to competition 
       3- Above average versus competition 
                             2- Average/below competition 
                             1- Poor versus competition 



EXTERNAL FACTOR EVALUATION MATRIX 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Opportunities:

Corporate/outings/event golf .10 3 

Growing Danbury population that plays golf .02 2 

National/USGA level event .02 3 

Roger R. Master Plan .30 4 

Long range plan to create more non-golf revenues .07 2 

Driving range .10 1 

Easier reservation system (on line) .24 1 

Available capacity-room for more rounds .15 2 

TOTAL 1.00 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Threats:

Competing golf courses .80 2 

No net increase in # of golfers-industry wide .15 2 

Weather risk .05 2 

TOTAL 1.00 

Notes: 1. Weights must total 1.00.  
           2. Ratings: 4-Superior to competition 
       3- Above average versus competition 
                             2- Average/below competition 
                             1- Poor versus competition 

Richter Park Long Range Planning Committee 

Meeting of July 6, 2006 

SWOT Analysis exercise 



The purpose of the SWOT analysis exercise is to more effectively identify and define 
how well an organization operates within  its own competitive environment. The analysis 
will reveal those items that need improvement or increased focus in the future. SWOT 
analysis is essentially a basic planning tool. 

The SWOT process is simple. 

1. Identify the respective strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats within Richter 
Park’s business. What are we good at, bad at, can be better at, need to watch out for? 

2. For each identified item, assign a weight to the factor. Is it important? 

3. For each item, assign a rating  to indicate the item’s strength versus competitors. Is 
someone doing better than us, or are we doing better than them? 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------

STRENGTHS: Elements, factors, or characteristics that are internal to RPA that are 
considered to be positive. 

WEAKNESSES: Elements, factors, or characteristics that are internal to RPA that are 
considered to be negative. 

OPPORTUNITIES: Element, factors, or characteristics that are external to RPA that 
present a chance for greater success. 

THREATS: Elements, factors, or characteristics that are external to RPA that pose a 
threat to RPA success. 



INTERNAL FACTOR EVALUATION MATRIX 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Strengths:

Course quality .30 4 

Golf course as prime revenue source .16 2 

No debt .05 4 

Available capacity .02 2 

Arts offerings .10 4 

Pro shop .06 3 

Restaurant .01 3 

Low cost of play .15 4 

Independence-managerial and financial .05 4 

Superintendent/Golf Professional .10 4 

TOTAL 1.00 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Weaknesses:

Unsupported non-golf revenue .05 2 

Current management structure .25 2 

Lack of management direction going forward .20 2 

No long term financial plan/capital needs/low 
revenues

.25 1 

Lack of awareness of non-golf offerings 
(arts/recreation)

.10 2 

Arts/music-parking & building issues .05 2 

Use of technology-website/on-line reservation, etc. .09 2 

Poor non-golf amenities (basketball/tennis/trails) .01 2 

TOTAL 1.00 

Notes: 1. Weights must total 1.00.  
           2. Ratings: 4-Superior to competition 
       3- Above average versus competition 
                             2- Average/below competition 
                             1- Poor versus competition 



EXTERNAL FACTOR EVALUATION MATRIX 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Opportunities:

Corporate/outings/event golf .10 3 

Growing Danbury population that plays golf .02 2 

National/USGA level event .02 3 

Roger R. Master Plan .30 4 

Long range plan to create more non-golf revenues .07 2 

Driving range .10 1 

Easier reservation system (on line) .24 1 

Available capacity-room for more rounds .15 2 

TOTAL 1.00 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS Weight Rating 

Threats:

Competing golf courses .80 2 

No net increase in # of golfers-industry wide .15 2 

Weather risk .05 2 

TOTAL 1.00 

Notes: 1. Weights must total 1.00.  
           2. Ratings: 4-Superior to competition 
       3- Above average versus competition 
                             2- Average/below competition 
                             1- Poor versus competition 
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BRANDING 

By Edwin Colyer 

Branding in Public: Waste of Money? 
Does branding deliver real information or is it a needless expense? The public sector should 
stick with simple brands and stronger sub-brands  

Whether it’s vibrant colors, a catchy slogan, or an informative and navigable website, public sector bodies are looking like they mean business. 
No longer are they the aloof and ponderous bureaucratic behemoths that control our lives. They appear to be open, approachable, and wanting 
to build relationships with us, the citizens.  

Yes, governments and public services are getting up to speed with branding. They have seen that it works for business. They understand that 
their clientele—citizens—live in a branded world. It would be strange if governments didn't move with the times. Ignoring branding would be like 
rejecting the Internet, mobile phones, and globalization.  

Or would it? While public bodies have a mandate to work on behalf of “the people,” they have to be responsible with their finances too, 
demonstrating prudence with the public purse. So can investments in branding programs be justified, or is the public sector merely following a 
marketing fad? Indeed, is branding even appropriate for public services?  

“I think good branding is good marketing and communications. And I think that what you need out of the public sector is good communication,” 
asserts Andrew Prince, director of publications in the UK government's Central Office of Information (COI). “Government advertising and 
marketing competes for people's time like every other piece of marketing out there. Branding is necessary; otherwise we would be wasting public
money.  

“Branding is a shortcut to people's understanding,” Prince explains. “You don't have to start from scratch with a concept or idea. In government, 
it is important that communications get through to people and brands are a part of that. Governments have realized the need to focus
communications and marketing efforts in terms of consistency of message. They are looking at the private sector and the notion of branding to 
help them out.  

“We undertake branding work in exactly the same way as you would in big business; it is the output at the end that is different,” Prince continues. 
“Commercial branding is about getting people to act or buy into things. Ours is to get them to buy into a change in behavior, for example by 
stopping smoking, or not drinking and driving. Apart from that everything else is the same.”  

According to Prince, branding in government is not entirely new—he harks back to the Green Cross Code Man of the 1970s, a sort of traffic 
superhero who taught children proper road safety in the UK—but its understanding of it has become more sophisticated, just as it has in 
business. “Five years ago the creative team in the COI would do the branding work for our departmental clients. Now we have two brand 
specialists. In government there are strong intelligent communications people working. They understand what a brand is and how branding 
works. They are comparable to brand managers in the private sector.”  

The main driver for this growing acceptance of branding isn't because it offers competitive advantages, at least not in its traditional business 
sense. “You have to discard the private sector rationale for branding. It is not trying to do the same thing. This is not about competition or selling 
more products or services to the consumer,” says Josef Jurkovic, a partner and director of the Centre for Excellence in Communications in 
Ottawa, Canada. “The context is the overall communications environment today. More groups compete for anyone's attention. Today you are 
faced with as many as 4,000 marketing messages per day; 15 to 20 years ago it was less than half that amount. The competition is for attention 
and retention of any kind of message.”  

“There's a realization that doing things the old way doesn't work anymore,” agrees Prince. “Everyone and anyone out there is communicating. 
Branding is interesting as it can get attention, cuts through the clutter and [allows groups to] develop relationships with audiences.”

But while much emphasis has been placed on branding, all but a few projects (especially in North America, observes Jurkovic) fall flat—much to 
the disgust of the taxpaying public. “For governments it is a more complex and difficult issue to brand than the private sector,” Jurkovic states. 
“The main difference is the degree of control the public sector has over branding. In government, branding is made harder because of complex 
reporting structures, bureaucracy and decision-making. You need 360-degree alignment of all activities, and it is hard for a large organization to 
exercise this control.

“There's a whole educational process required before you can even start contemplating branding as such,” Jurkovic continues. “They need to 
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understand 360 alignment. You then need complete senior management commitment (and that means people like deputy ministers need to be 
driving the branding effort). You need a strong policing and monitoring effort so it is properly implemented, and you may need to create an 
infrastructure to administer the brand.” Given these major challenges, Jurkovic recommends caution, seeing a big difference between branded 
information campaigns and branding programs for entire departments, agencies and the like. “The more targeted the audience of a brand, the 
more chance it has of working. Departments and ministries should stick to simple, basic brands that act as umbrellas for more much stronger 
sub-brands. Public sector branding is about strong sub-brands. You focus your branding where you have defined audiences.  

“We often advise clients to rethink their branding,” Jurkovic concludes. “Is it something they really want to do or is a solid communications effort 
what is really needed? Sometimes the effort and expense needed to brand—for it only to be changed after a few years—is simply not worth it.”  

Edwin Colyer is a science and technology writer based in Manchester, UK.  
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